SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK:
GOUNTY OF NEW YORK : PART 30

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
Sy

No. 871/65

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN .3X BUT-
LER) and KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X
JOHNSON),

Defendants.

PLEASE- TAKE NOTICE;:that, upen the anncxed affidavi

of MUJAHID:ABDUL*HALIM.:(THOMAS HAGAN) ,#MUHAMMAD SABDUL*AZIZ’ {NOB

MA?]:‘{ '3X* BUTLER), " KHALIL TSLAM:' {THOMAS 15X JOHNSON).;"'NURIDDIN 'FA
and wILLIAi"I M. KUNSTLER, &1l duly verified as’ indicated ‘thereon
and all the proceedings heretofore had herein, defendants, thro
ther‘ undersigned-counsel, will. move this iCourt,.=t.a Part 30 t
of‘ to, bes held.diniand for the County ofy New York at:the Criming
CqurtsALBua‘l’ding'," A60 Tentre Streeets: New [Yorks: N<Y.N1DD013,00

02/5’{‘ y of December;1977,:at 10: 00" o2t lock din. the forenoon thel
O!Lj or” as- soon- thergafiter” as- counsel:can el heard,afor prders!py
sthnt to. §4N0.10(g), Criminal Procedure! Law, {1) ¥acating their
judgments_of. conviction upon:the ground - that: new evidence,haﬁ t
discovered since the entry ‘thereof which could not have been PY
duced by them at their trial even with the exercise of due dili
gence on their-parts-and which:is: of: sugh a‘‘characteras: to: cTg
a probability that,~had such -evidence:been received at: said-tr
the verdicts would have been more favorable to the said defendj
(2) dismissing the within- :mdlctment as: to: them, or, in the aly
native, (3) granting them new -trials,zand {43 ‘Such other and I

APPEIDIEA L




relief as ma& be just and proper in the éremises including, bdt
not limited to, an evidentiary hearing to prove the allegations
hereinbefore set forth.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that answering ‘papers, if)
any, must be served upon the undersigned at least five (5) days

before the return date hereof.

Yrs., etc.,
//
A s -
Lt illeaniile
“WILLIKM M. KUNSTLER
853 Broadway

i New York, N.Y. 10003 -
& (212)674-3303

Attorneys for Defendants

Dated: New York, N.Y.

Criminal Motion Clerk

Supreme Court, New York County
100 Centre Street

New York, N.Y. 10013

District Attorney
New York County,

155 Leonard Street
New York, N.Y. 10013




SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK : PART 30

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
Ind. No. 871/65

e

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X
BUTLER) and KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS
15X JOHNSON),
Deféndants.
STATE .OF. NEW YORK )
COUNTY OF NEW YORK) B
NURIDDIN -FAIZ, being duly. swormn; -deposes .and -saysz-

i i 1. I am a Minister of- the ‘World -Community ‘of. Islam

and & New York State -Area Cha;;lain,r New "York State 'Department,of

Correctional Services, having been i{ssued Identification Card No|

039275 thereby.

20 Since .approximately 1973,- I: have been visiting
]\'.;j 2hid iAbdul Halim 2(Thomas Hagan) =t' the Eastern Correctional..
Facildity, Napanoch, N.¥.-as Tis minister. . Over the -years:;:he
hgs been dincreasingly: .concerned-with:the fact that: *his :;:'o—defehr
a;ts 4n the within 4ndictment were -innocent of the crime of whi
tiaey were -convicted with him.

3. During the past several months, he has indicate
that he wou‘\ld like to relate the details of the planning and eXx
egution of that erime in order ’to exonerate his Annocert £0-d€
fgndants. He also expressed to me that he was -now -prepared and|
willing to testify on their behalf at any hearing granted in £y

matter and subject himself to direct and cross examination as

o

all the details of his involvement :in said crime..: .




4. On November 29, 1977, he prepared his affidavit

which accompanies this notice of motion in his own handwriting
in my presence but was unable to obtain a notary publlc-because
of the late hour in which it was completed. At the request of
William M. Kunstler, I asked Mr. Hagan to call him the next day
and certify that he had indeed written and signed the affidavit i
question. On November 30, 1977, I delivered the said affidavit -y
Mr. -Kunstler _at: his:office in New FonkECloyiiaa

5. I firmly believe .that 'Mr. Hagan-is telling ‘the try
and that he is riow prepared to furnish ‘every -:last.detail -of the .|
of which de}endants,were convicted from the witness stand and thg]

his purpose is to exonerate two innocent men.

Widiidd Ve
;, NURIDDIN FAIZ - \t:;i‘i

Sworn to before-me this™

£ Tday ‘of December, 1977.

A/VL&

NOTARY PUBLIC
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State of New York

Westchester County

I, Norman Butler, being duly sworn, deposes and says:
1...I .am one of the persons.convicted of murdering Halcolm: X
at the Audubon Ballroom, New York, N. Y. on Sunday the

21st day of February, 1965.

1 am completely -innocent of this cmimesi.-.

“Until I met Thomas Hagen in the :Tombs after the -murder:--

Malcolm X, I had never met nor heard of him.

{14;2ﬁ ‘“Jﬁgiliizzzz;i:;/~1:f;

ﬁo(‘man“;Butler Ter

chx"n to before me

this day of November 23,1977

/j%:/,,,/%«é

d e

ST EDNARD WTLES
Moy Public, Stote of New' Jark
Mo, 4602425

Qualf o< In svnx County

LI o= e s B r.)r




State of New York

County of Ulster

I, Thomas Johnson, being duly sworn, deposes and sa&s 3 g
1. I am one of the persons convicted of murdering Yialcolm X
2t the Audbon Ballfoon, New York, N.Y. on Sunday the

21st. day of February, 1965.
2. I an completely <innocent of this crime. ™ *

3. Until I met Thomas Hagen in- the Tombs after the murder of <l

ialcolm X, I had never met nor heard-of him. °

omas Johngon

Sworn~o: before me
this day of November 22, 1977,

T
':_i.’s ﬂj/glvw LL(C‘LJ o

Notary Public




SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK : PART 30 g <

Ind. No. .871/65

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUT-
LER) and KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X
JOHNSON) , 3

i Defendants.

STATE OF. NEW .YORK -)

I¥ 5 Ditsstizas -
COUNTY 'OF NEW “YORK)

! ;
; WILLIAM M.: KUNSTLER, being duly:sworn, :deposes.and ==
says: BRC
I 1. I am the attorney for the above named defendants

aﬁd I ;am making this -affidavit:-in support. of their motion,’ pursu

g ant da. §LLUO;1‘D(g),'.Cnimi-n‘al..Prxm’eduz!e":»Law,?v.afur:“bpdex:s%a(}:) svacatil

their Judgments sofs conviction ‘uponsthe:- 4ground that-mewzevidence|

hasbeen :discovered since :the Entry: ‘thereof:mirichocould not -have-

- been producetby:-tihem mt+-their rial=everrwith: *'due"ﬁiligence foIT

theix‘ parts-and which is: of such a -character:as: to create @. probj
bility ‘that; -had such-evidence -been received -at the-said trial,
-the- verdiets ‘would  have-been more“favorable to them,~{2) ‘dismiss
the within indictment as to them, or, in the alternative, (3) gr
1ng them mew -trials,-and -(4) such .other a.nd.—fur‘ther relief as ma
-w Just-and :proper.-in the premises -“including, ‘but mot Admited: to
an evidentiar‘y hearing to prove the allegations hereinbefore set|
th. ...

= ety 2. ‘At ‘approxinately."3:00 p-m. -on Stinday,:=February 21

i
1965, Malcolm:X,: a/k/a.Malcolm ‘Shabazzja/k/a:Malcolm:Little, § el

inafter referred.to -as Mlacolm X, a former minister of New York




City Mosgque Number 7 of the then Nation of Islam, a Muslim relig-

ious organization with its headquarters in Chicago, Illinois, was

shot to death just -prior to addressing an audience in-. the -main

pallroom of the Audubon Ballroom, an auditorium located at West

166th Street and Broadway in the County and City of New York.

«-- ~v -~ =3 Syubsequently, -and on or about March 10, 1965, -thr

Black men, namely Thomas Hagan, a/k/a Talmadge Hayer, Norman But

ler, a/k/a Norman 33X Butler, - and-Thomas _Johnson,--a/k/a- Thomas 15}

Johnsony ‘h’e‘réinaffer’"re’fe’rre’d"fv“as ‘Hagan, _ButIer-and -Johnsén, T
spectively; were _indicted by 2 -New York County.:grand jury=for th
murder of the said Malcolm_X, & cOpy of which indictment Is at-

tached hereto as Exhibit A -
4. After the said defendants had interposed thelr Pl

of not guilty,‘their trial beganin Part 37 of this .Court .on Dec|

errber 65 19655 “before-Hon. CharlesMarks ;v thenia: ~Justice thereo]

ami >ended withitheiréonvictionssby a7 yjuryzon March=il, Ni06 65—

April 18, 11966;7all-said - dafe.ndam:s‘were—sentenced-:by Justice M

to state prison:for the terms “of their natural- lives.

5. On May 22, 1968, the Appellate Division, First.D{
artment, affirmed their Judgments of conviction, People V. Haga!

29 A.D.2d 931 ‘(1st Dept. 1968). The Court of Appeals likewise

firmed said judgments on April 16, 1969, People v. Hagan, 24 N.

24 395 (1969), and the United States Supreme Court subsequently

denied certiorari, Hayer et al. v. New York, 396 U.S. 886 (1969

6. Defendants are presently serving their sentences

at Walkill Correctional Facility, Walkill, N.Y. (Johnson), Oss]

N.Y. (Butler) and Eastern

ing Correctional Facility, Ossining,

_—




rectional Facility, Napanoch, N.Y. (Hagan) .
. "

= 7. On February 28 and March 1, 1966, .Hagan, after hav-
testified -
ing -previously/in his -own behalf -and denied his-guilt, TT. 2675-
s 7

2;7:55,” was then recalled as a witness for Butler ‘and thereupon - -
téstified that he had been approached early in the month of Feb-
1

ruary., 1965, “and offered money to assassinate Malcolm X; and that]
iL ¢

1

with a number of confederates, -had planned and executed -the -crime

-3135-3179, 3211-3241. However, even though vigorously presse

b do so. by counsel for -these movants; TT. 3145, the ;prosecutor,

73151=2 fand 'the ‘trial jridgey TT. 3145, ‘he refusedto namechis

;:’complices -or give:any:-butithe -sketcéhiest -of details:izbout the
s?id planning "and execution. . -But "he tonstantly-Treiterated that =
nléither Butler nor :Johnsonthad been :involved 131 the ‘erime. :See g
TT .3145-6, -3149 .and -3170. . .As he explained-it, "I got up here £ol
o‘?}%e reason-:and-that was ta clear the two men=of this'charge.that
k"rjnow,:they rare mot=guilty of.'WiTT. 3218 He -Insisted sthat the and
"ch‘r:.-; .»..ather people;". TT. 13155,:%had :committed sthe ierimey sbut o
t:};a’c?the .movantsrwere mmot dnvolved: Nand=didnlt-have:manything to 4
dg with ithe ‘érime that was -committed at’ the “AudubonzBalIroom Feb-
r;;ary 21st, sthat :I:7did take spartAn it, zand =that=I cknowsrfor farfa(
that they wasn't:there. . .. Mt UG o 4

8. During his incarceration at Eastern Correctional

__37 A1l references to the trial transcript will .be indicated by
3 the letters-TT, :followed:by tqg'appropriate -pagination.i-.=

¥*/Tt -should +pe remembered that there was no physical -evidence "

" 1inking :Butler or Johnson +o the -crime; they ‘were mot -appre- i
hended-at the scene of the crime and -that-—each -had-an alibl

: for-the afternoon:-of February -21,-1965; alibis _supported by

' other -defense witnesses==TT, 177, “3019,3244; 3417 -and 35165

: et seqg..:.-: 3 i Ak

| : ®




5 ' 5
Facility, Said Hagan has been regularly visited by Department of

Correctional Services Chaplain Nuriddin Faiz, a Minister of the

World Community of IsIam, formerly known as the Nation of Islam,

and, after many meetings with said chaplain, he decided to furni

the details of his=zinvoivement in the ~planning-and -execution -of

the assassination of Malcolm X on February 21, 1965, including

the names of his -confederates, which he disclosed to said chaplg

OI‘Z\) November.29, 1977, :during -a-meeting at the :said -facility.
9. Prior .thereto,--and zon October :11} and -November 2By

1977, the undersigned, accompanied ‘by Chaplain=Faiz, met with ‘Hy

gan-at the said -facility and -participated dm lengthy :discussion

+

with him, at which time he furnished us with many facts about t
crime, including that much of the planning had taken place in P{

efson, N..J i, -the details of the diversionary -tactic-that.-precedy

il
the :assassination,;=the types-sf weapons -employedand-who =used -t
il
an

firmly=convinced]

the :shoating Htsexfs -1 was <= -and-am =
tﬁat ‘he taldois -the truth and-would.da so- m:the:thnessistand:
should this Court order:an evidentiary -hearing herein.

10. I have been assured by Chaplain Faiz-and Mr. Hg
himself that the latter 1s now prepared to testify fully as to
of said details, includiné the names and last known addresses ¢
his confederates at any evidentiary hearing held by this Court,)
most of which information was unavailable to defendants' prior
counsel at any time aﬁd which, the record clearly reveals, was
specifically withheld .from them, the prosecutor. and the trial

judge during all stages of the prior proceedings, TT. 31455831

: ‘ G




-. years, a tragic'deprivation of liberty if,

3169, 3173, 3176, 3177, 3179, 3216, 3219 and 3230-31,.and, in

fact, was.not fully revealed by Mr. ‘Hagan \mtil'November 29, 197
4

11. There can be no doubt that such evidence is new]

1y discovered within the meaning of §440.10(g), Criminal Procedu]

LQW, and that it could not have been produced by these defendant

at their trial, even with all due diligence on their parts. It

is also undeniable that; had such evidence been received at the

i
s‘afid :trial; »it would:create a ~probability ‘that the :verdicts -woull
1

have ‘been-more -favorable . to them.- Moreover, there-can be 1ittlqg

1
qv\ies,tion‘that evidence -that persons other "than these movants cor

mitted the..crime in question furnished by one who is testifying

against his penal interest is admissible in this -state: “People

v, Brown; . 26 N:Y..2d 88(1970)See "also Chambers: v.. Mississippi,
1-!10 U.S. .2847(1973): > Under ‘the ecircumstances, movants are ~clea:
ly en‘titled -as acsmatter tof- law,zbo an evideﬁt‘iaryzheai'ingiat; W.

t:}_:e -said:new:evidence:can be presentedstc. this=Courtrfor ttsico

s:ideration-;thex‘,eof:with :reference-to the-grantingior denying -of}

e, &
the reltef;-or any=of It, sought cherein:-i38 N3Y.:-2d 567:(2975)"
’_ 12. Movants have:been- incarcerated :for ‘more-than= v

as theyvhiaye‘;corn_srisr
1y maintained, they are indeed innocent of the crime in questi

Now, their co-defendant, who.1s in the unique position .of know]

- the truth thereof <has; after considerable -soul- searching, scom

forth and-revealed the details:iof the crime; including>the mam
i3

of his confederates; -and “is prepared to go to even-greater .len

¥7 People V. Crimmins. <. ER U -
SRV

!

Iq




on the witness stand in any evidentiary hearing scheduled herein.
Movants are entitled to their day in court, so long delayed, to
attempt to prove that they weré wrongfully convicted and that the]
are entitled to their immediate freedom or, at the very least, tol
a new trial. Nothing short of such a hearing would comport with
the standards of due process of law and the equal protection of
the law mandated by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the
Constitution of the United States and .the decisional law of this
state. People-v. Crimmins, supra..-

13. On November 30,-1977; ;after-talking to Mr. Hagan
on the ‘telephone and-=recognizing his'voi;e;*and:being assured by
him that he had written his affidavit in his own hand and signed
it and now swore to the contents thereof, I notarized same.

; 14. .No previeus application<£or,thetrelief,scught;
?%rein,‘other than-as indicated ;above, .hasibeen:-made ‘to thisor
a%yfcther¢00urt;

: WHEREFORE,dt is respectfully;irayed:that-(l)‘defeni
judgments of conviction be vacated and -the-within indictment dis
missed as to them, or, in the alternative, (2) they be granted 2
new trial, or, in the further alternative, (3)this mattef be set
down for an immediate evidentiary hearing, and (4) defendants be
granted such other and further relief as may be just and proper

the ‘premises.

Y 275 /‘/’,/4 il

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER

STATE OF NEW YORK

Expites March 30, 1975~ 75>

Sworn to before me this

jmday of Degemper, 1977-
Tl s A
HOTARY FUBLIC

No. 31-3211470
d in New York County

MARGARET L. RATNER

NOTARY PUBLIC,
Commission




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
@

Upon the penalt}es and pains of perjury, the under-
signed, an attorney duly licensed to practice-as such in the Stat
of New York, hereby certifies that, on the 6th day of December,
1977, heServed a conforméd copy of the attached Notice of Motion
and supporting affidavits upon the District Attorney, New York
County, by leaving said -copies‘with a!responsible person at the

office-of said District Attorney;. 155 Leonard Street, New ‘York,

N.Y. 10013.

: 5 24 4@%%/@& ¢

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER

Dated: New York, N.Y.
December=6; 1977-




SBPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK VPART 30 S rany

oL TR STATE

Ind. Yo. 871/65
MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUT- _ e '
LER) and K}(A.LIL ISLMX (THDMAS 15X

PLEASE TARE. HOTICE, _fThat.defendants wish to supplEreEnt”
thei" notice or motion dated December 5, 1977, and served -and filed
on December 6A 1977 praying for certain relie@ Pursuant to, Shlm 10,1,
.. ».8ubdivision | (s),. nnl‘PJr‘occedux'e Law, X0, 1nc1ude ThereD:

failux‘e of the People to nobiry said defendants prior to or. Huring
t)‘e trial of this 1ndictment that one of the men who. appear 1n ef-

endantswax.h.bita Y, ¥, X 8N ¥y £ rmerly marked Pecpl ‘B’Eghip}?gﬁ 3

36, 37, 38 and-39 for ide tification,wspeci 1cally Fheiman, alleged-
s JRTT S

1y giving mouth—to-mouth resuacitati
Z3 Lt

AN !’act,_ .polic

:ta:utox:y p‘ounds :contained in subdi oY 1ons

the said SRRO 10, crininal Procedure La
sought 1n said notice or motion. Ygs

- 2 H.. Bisckw#ils
T"Yoursy e tor e H

Yt R .yeicsed At thls witnean dak Tesi-

Dated: New York, N. Y.
S December 8: v.,9:’.7_) o

TO: S " 853 Broadway... —
B4% eriminal ‘Motion C‘léx?k e “hatyew York, 'N.Y. 10003
<.District Attorney ) (212)6713—3303




SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK PART 30 Fona bed
i e Sy LmF 4 ':e".n,'
'I‘HE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK She
BeRisiichntieneh nectand sile L

em o 4 | X Ind. No. 871/65

=ERE B QoY) So0 Itwisad, ‘hz sade ynba Lot tries o plve o

_MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUT-

“3ER) -and’ KHALIL-ISLAM (THOMAS 15X t4m o pive 4T Lo .someone

JOHNSON), ,. : i

S cEnlieaaeiaiingd ithen Ced it to Fuben Franciz. TT, 1744,
= ggrenc}ancs

Jean” aftex bawinn

_x:oxmfry OF NEW- xonx) : jo
WILLIAM M. KUNS'.[‘LER, being: duly sworn ~deposes and saysu:
o 220 el EQpar. wd. FeNE Huden
¥ b I am the attorney for the derendsnts ﬂnd I am making‘
£ S O Tumeity @l Erwthar Josn’ &n weil as the
_;his arfidavit 1n suppox-t of their _supplemental notice of motion
e ofizeer and shia vital informaticn was
hereins . -
teismen Sa, thedetense Tk wms, o sratead, -dels Tatsly. withneld
i 2. During: the trial,\eight -photographs;? .which ihad.:been. ==

-marked: Grand Jury Exhiblts hrough'8~ ere Jmarked People's Ex-iz-
s 2

thrcugh 38 Dr 1dentification. TT, 1720—21. They
2 PR ART. LA BuT amd part-
<nto evddence as Defendants' Exhibits R thrcugh Y by the
Bk Si. ek T<panTEOGY. mizms have been invelvd
_attorney, .for derendant Hagah and received. TT.-1721. - In four
S weni? ~f 2afendant Butlsr o
.of these phbtch‘aphs a man 1s d&pécted lmeeling over the victim
it werint. s ¢he Gefoniants the
_, body on theﬂstagg ggsthe Audubom Ballroom moments after the victim
e k. ueso B %20

26 wns mn ansvmeover pollds axent vidlater

_‘Qhooting, p_resuxpab.ly giving him mouth- to—mouth resuscitation.TT. 42
o o A S i e s a sl o a s, a2 of £ A,m-ﬂ_qmﬂ iz in

5 €linorately - snd wwsrank nng,
3 During the goas—examination of Charles H. Blackwell.

a witness for the People, At developed that this witness had testi
fied before the Grand Ju.ry that he hadJicked up a Lugar arter the|
< AF M. -k

shuoting, wrapped 1t in a jacket that he ,saw on the rloor Bnd hand




o further testified at the trial

1t to a “Brother Jean." TT. 1663. H
that he did not know the identity. of nJean,” TT. 1727, and that he =

had been mistaken in stating that he ‘bad handed the Luger to that

person. TT. 1743. Instead, he said that he had tried to give "Jean”

_the-weapon but-that- the latter had told him to give it to, someone —

ed it to Ruben Francis. TT. 1744,

else =2nd that he had then hand

He also testified that he had "called quther Jean" after baving

picked:up the weapon.=— ~TP.73750.Later, he sald. that h,e‘hga,d'no,t been.-

told anything by nJean, > but merely been waved away-by the latter

7. 1756, T en” vira e faon /-U,L?A»QQ? Seatig MM;{;MB
17>

= 4,-At-21l times,-the- People must have ¥nown. and - the police

certainly &id know the identity of nBrother Jean" as well as the
fact that -he was & police officer and this vital 4nformation was s

=.m=:enu~ rmever giventi fthe-—defenee;but.was»,;finstead, ﬂeliberately,uithhe’ld =

'\\”‘\ from-1t. T g
% 5. This is partuularly significant:dn th,al’, -on £ -the de-
-~ »ae~ =penpes-asserted during- the- ‘tria.lv—was—-that the authoritiea and pa.x-t-

ifcular}y the New York.City- Police Department -might have been 1nvol

4in the murder. See €., summation on bebalf of defendant Butler on

-<=pp. 3725-26, Trial Transcript.- To-hide from tbeiefendants the 1d-

entity of an eyewltness who was an undercover police agent vinlates

every principle of falr play as well as all of the. declsional law ok

:~¢n{g srea.’ It was done wil€ullyand: deliberately- andmd t-on

of the thrusts of the defense. .

Sworn to before me this -
8th day of December, 2 Cherf




SUPREME COURT -OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK : PART 30

THE PEOPLE .OF THE _STATE OF NEW YORK .z
v ! i

MUHAMMAD - ABDUL . AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUT-

LER) and ALILTISLAM:{THOMAS -15X

JOHNSON).,

Defendants .

‘COUNTY 'OF NEW
WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER, belng- duly " swom,’ :deposes =And "SEYS
SR amEthe) attorney‘for defendants “hereim=and =1 Zam submitting
this affidavit in support of their motion, pursuan a §1HH) 10 .sub
divisioz; 1(b), (£), .(g) and (h), Criminal Procedure .Law, ,I‘or _or-

ders<vacating ‘their :judgments -of conviction .and -dismissing ithe wi—%
-tﬁin‘rindi"tr’ieﬁ:vt%s Y Themior, - 2ees ‘the alternattvzr grantmg ithem: 1:
news; .trials .dnd =otherirelateédtreliefivi. ‘
2. In a previous- atfidavj.t,‘:submitt.edthereifﬂn or. about Dec=:
i . e
ember ‘8, T9775 7in conmnection ‘withia supplemental‘:notice iof motion i
bearing ‘the same-date,~I-made referencesto the “factzthatza s"Brothe:
Jean™ who was on the platform of the Audubon Ballroom.as a =security
— e v{,“,-’,a.. :
guard at or about the time that Malcolm X Was killed on February
21, 1965, was, in fact, an undercover ageht of the Police Depart-
ment -of the:City.:of New York by the name -of Gene- ~Roberts :and :that -
. —r—
his true identity was never revealed to thE/defense during the 'wi-'
thin trial. Since submitting said affidavit, I have obtained-the
portion of the “transcript of People.of the State-of New -York -v.:

*
Shakur et al.j Ind. No.:1848 1/2 =.19695 /w‘hich ‘refers’

Roberts' “testimony therein-in Which he admits ‘that he was indeed
‘/ New York County




o

present at the time and place when Malcolm X was assassinated and

observed a great deal of what happened thereat. Pp. 572N-5736 of
said transcript are attached hereto and made a part hereof as Ex-
hibit A.
5% Detective Roberts, who had been a patrolman on February
21, 1965, Exh. ASD. 5732,‘testified fully at the Shakur trial
about what he termed "the truth about the assassination." Ibid.
at p. 5726.
'You'are going to tell--us the-truth about what’ -
happened Malcolm X?
Yes.
And this is the truth that you observed?
A Yess
Q. Did you testify at the trial of_ three people: "~
who-wereccharged with thenassassination?,
No
But . you-saw 4t _happen?-: *
Yes.
But ‘you didn't testify?
No.
Didn't ‘you want the truth to come out there?
Yes.
Why didn't you testify?
i ﬁasn't called.
But you knew what happened?
Yes.

you didn't testify?

: \
Ibid., pp. 5727-8 @




Z3=

Y. Prior to taking the stand in the -Shakur trial, he had been

informed by the prosecutor that "Mp. Lefcourt. . .or. . - somebody

was going to ask him about Malcolm X. Exh. A at p. 5728. He had

He then proceeded to testify at great length as to what had hap-

then told him "what really happened there." Ibid. at p. 5729. i
5
pened at the Audubon Ballroom on February 21, 1965. Among other ‘
things, he said that he had been 2 member of the first rostrum seci
| urity guard which had been relieved after the speech of one Benja—l
1min Goodman. Ibid. at p. 5730. When Goodman finished, he had in—i
troduced Malcolm X who then"approached the platform and gave the i
Muslim greeting." Id. At that time, "two individuals near the
front of the auditorium Jjumped up, one hollering, 'Get your hand l
out -of .my pocket,' .at_which time there was-a small commotion." ;g.{
He had "started down the aisle where the commotion was," Id., wheng
he heard shots. He had seen n[Tlwo individuals" fire at Malcolm
and then runvdown the middle aisle of the auditorium. Id.

5. Roberts, after seeing Malcolm clutch his chest, went down
Wone aisle"; Id., arriving at the rear of the auditorium simultan-
eously with the two men he had seen shoot at the victim. Ibid. at
pp. 5730-1. As one passed him, Roberts had "grabbed a chear i
Ibid. at p- 5731, when "[Tlhe individual who was subsequently
caught, named Hayef. S S dleS iooked in his direction and fired
"what looked like a 5. . .", Id., at him. Because Roberts had
sidestepped, the bullet had missed his body but hit his jacket. Id|
He had then thrown the chair in his hand at Hayer, knocking him

to the floor, but the latter had gotten to his feet and hobbled

(>




"out the front," Id., at which time anoqber security guard had
arrived in the vicinity and taken "a shot at the same individual."
Id.

6. Roberts had then gone out the front door where he saw a
large crowd "kicking and stomping. . . an individual."™ Id. He had
then returned to the stage of the ballroom where "I proceeded to
give Malcolm mouth .to méuth resuscitation," -Id. .:Some :twenty .min-.
utes later, the police "finally got there and :took him-over to
Medical Center." Id. -

7. He also testified that-he had ‘been a member -of "Malcolm's

organizat;on," Ibid. at p. 5732, for some time, that he had atten-

ded "various meetings", Id., at which the victim had spoken .at that

same ballroom, and -that,-on every such otcasion !prior to that nig%

there hed :always-been "large contigents:of uniformed-police’ pre- %

sent.. Id.. -... 1
Q. But ‘thatinight .there were mone, Tight? -

A. This afternoon there was only a few on the outside

|
: |

Moreover, he had not seen any other police officers "around" on the}

day of the assassination. Ibid. at p. 5726. ‘
|

8. The standard -applying to new evidence is that it must be
"discovered since the entry of a judgment. . . [and] could not have
been produced by the defendant. .v.even with due diligence on his
part" and must be "of such a character as to create a probability
that had such evidence been received at the trial the verdict would

have been more favorable to the defendant. . " §440.10, subdivisio]

23
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|

{
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|

|

| 5

k it

i

\1(g), Criminal Procedure Law. “That the willingness of Thomas ‘Hagan,
|

1af‘ter years of soul searching, to testify as to the identity of his‘

Wcon!’ederates in the assassination of Malcolm X-and the detalled i~

! plans relating thereto meets every aspect ‘of this standard hardly

! peen prepared :to so testify at the original trial, it is highly

|

iprobable that_the verdicts as to these defendants would have been

“The prosecutor- well-ainder—

|

|

requires further discussion on movant's part. —If Mr. Hagan had l
|

-l

\

more.favorable, ‘to say the very least. 1
i

i

stood the potential effect. of Hagan'.,s,testimon'y,and _thoroughly=un-.

dermined ‘it at the trial.~See 7T, 3147=3180 and 3211=32415 5= ‘\
9. "I"he new evidence _relating to the identity of Detective \\
Gene Roberts also “fully meets the statutury,ﬁtanﬁarm;(‘ar,,a wvariety
of reasons. r The hidingof: his 4dentity deprived ‘movantsiofs & pot-
e;qtial; witness.-who (a) observed the assassination and the Evenbs:in:
immediately -succeeding it 3(b) could —have,mculpated;thesﬁniefend—.
ants, “(e¢) would-have -added -substance..to the ‘defense theory.—;:hati.,'
the murder-of Malcolm X-was brought.about.or instigated. by the New|
York :City Police Department and -other “law -enforcement agencies, 27
(d) would have discredited many of the prosecution's"crucial wit-
nesses by the sharp variances between his testimony at the Shakur
trial and that -given ‘by the former at- this one.’ =
10. Furthermore, it makes very 1ittle differernce whether it
was the. police, the prosecutor or both who concealed this .wvital
information: -:"The only -relevant -consideration is- that :the state =T
did not -disclose .it to the defense, even -when-requested,-and the =|

e

=




]

i

‘onus-falls on the entire px‘oseéution which was thoroughly tainted
by the failure to inform.

11. Just a cursory reading of the trial transcript reveals: - _

‘the enormous extent of the disparity between Roberts' testimony in
Shakur and that given by many witnesses’ at the within trial. For
example, Cary Thomas,:the People's first significant witness, test- i
ified thaty Just’as Malcolm X-began to address the audience:at- the w',—’f
Audubon ‘Ballroom, .one man :stood up "in the rear' -and said;=dn- effecf !
"Man,~what are you doing.:with-your. hand :4in:my- pocket?™ TT. 236, 386‘
This is- in sharp contrast to Roberts?!. version that. "two-individualsy ‘
near therfrc.mt of the auditorium jumped up, one hollering, 'Get youx’f
hand out of my pocket’.-='- " Shakur: TT: 5730 '~’Addit1~anally,~.zal,— pes B
though:Roberts testified” toiknocking. Haga;h:down‘iHithfaiixzhaiz‘.—,after {
being: shot:zat: by: him,= tounsel :doesinot recali:any otheritrial-wit— ;‘.
hess- so: stating. Shakur-2T: -5731- . In. this—connection, _see xhe test—i
imony- oft1Vernal ‘Temples Edward-De- Pinaj’ George Whitney;: Jasper 'Davijs 3
John Davis,: Ronald Timberlake, “Fred”Williams: and Charles Blackwell. l
12. Moreover, Roberts' testimony that, although there had al-
ways been "large contingents of uniformed police" at all of l‘ﬂalcolmi
X's previous meetings at the ballroom, there were "only a few on i
the outside” on this- occasion,” Shakur TT: 5732, would-have substantl—
ially buttressed the defense contention that the police were someho‘(
involved in the assassination. In this connection, see the startling

testimony of Patrolman Gilbert Henry that he had been concealed in

the Rose Room at:the Audubon Ballroom at the time of the Malcolm X

: fomeas




1

vimeeting with another officer, Patrolman John Carroll, at the direc-

tion of their superior officer, a Sergeant Devaney, TT. 2443, 2451,

1
1
1

with him a walkie-talkie which was "connected with another walkie-

who had given them specific instructions "to remain  where [they] -

would not be seen." TT. 2ul2. At this time, Patrolman Henry had

Presbyterian Medical Center. ZIT. 2414, After hearing the SFirsi= ~

i
|

talkie" in the possession-of an officer in the Col\mbiarUnivers:‘Lty‘1
|

|

il shots, Henry-had entered-the main ballroom where -he>-did not see
any other uniforméd officers or recognize any detectives’ ~TT.2438
13. It must ‘be kept in mind that, at this time,” the FBI'S

COINTELPRO operation:was in full. swing,’ beginnjng\in’1956 and con-

tinuing, according to the ‘Bureatr,‘—until"l‘)’[l'.—v'Book II1I, Final Rep

ort of the Select:Committee to>Study: Governmental'“Operat:’Lnnsiwith

Respect  to Intelligente:Activities,® United: States=Senate,=April—_

wrtay

23, 1976,%P%, 35 hereinafter sometimes referred—toias-the Church:=--
Committee Report.- One -of the technigues employed in:this program -
was the instigation of enmity or factionalism within rival Black

groups. -Ibid. at pp. 40-54.- Included within this techniqué was

the use of hostile third parties against targeted groups. Ibid.
at pp. 49-50. Moreover, the then Nation of Islam was designated
as a."primary target. - ." Ibid. at p. 21, fn. 93, as.was the Hon.
Elijah Muhammed. Id.
14. Instigating or encouraging the murder of Malcolm X would
Won February 21, 1965, is doubly
puzzling in view of. the fact. that Malcolm.X's home -had been

bombed the previous. week. __.




| PP 97-_-98. That these techniques crveated serious risks’ of physica

mBL

have fitted the aforementioned'COINTELPRO techniques to a T.-As

former Assistant to the Director William C. Sullivan testified

before the Church Committee, "[NJo holds were barred. .- ." 11/1/75

B

harm to their targets is fully documented .in the Church Committee

Report which.concluded that "[Wlhen_the willingness.to.use tech-

niques which. were concededly dangerous or:-harmful:toithe targeis-—
is combined with.the range of purposes:and <riteria by:which~these:

targets were chosen,- the result:1s. neither 'within bounds'-mor -«

'justified’ in”a free society." " Church Committee Report;~at p.:93
Testimoﬁy‘ James B. Adams, li/19/75, Vol. 6, Hearings, pp. 73, 75.

At the very least,. defendants-were entitled-to-the testimony:of-

Detective Roberts:tosbuttress sthistcilaimiand toilead:toifurther =27
witnesses-tossustaincdta =

315, Interestinglysenough; -the FBI was dnvolved=inithe invest-
igation of-the Maicolm-X killing,:despite~the fact"thatt ’:Lt';vas a--
case ostensibly: not within that- agency's juri;diction.7,At,the tria
Special Agent JOHN C. Sullivan testified that he had been contacte
by another agent shortly after the assassination and that, followij
that conversation, he and another agent named Joseph T. Quigley hal
gone:to a Brooklyn address ‘where' they had been shown one of>the mu
der weapons by a Ronald Timberlake, one of the People's other wit-
nesses. People's Exhibit 12, a .45 cal. revolver, was taken by
Agent Sullivan. -That evening, after Sullivan had telephoned the
New York City Police Department, he was visited an inspector, 2

deputy inspector and a detective and,-after-a conversétio@ﬁd
2




don

! turned the weapon over to the detective in question. Sullivan had

|
|
|

returned to Timberlake's home the next evening and had a further &
conversation with him which was terminated when New York City pol-l
ics officers arrived. Moreover, the FBI had received some thirty ‘
photographs from the Police Department of "people who were in E

the area when Malcolm:-was e e A SR TP R TSE O3k

16. The hiding.of the identity of a key wi‘cr_'ness to a murder
is such a-denial.of” dué process of :law that.4t-1s.diffiznlt-to. thir
of a-more heinous=one.> Fundamental- justice"would require.the gran
ings of a new trial on this ground alone. —3t is obvious that the d
feunse névér knew of the existance of this witness, other than by
the designation of- "Brother. Jean;"=and that he- would-have_ been-cal
lei if:his identity-had been made-known:to:it. Evenzif-the People
di2 not know-the ddentity,iit.can hardly vbe'.'quesrlionea;.tbatn,the
Pclice Department .certainly did and that:dt:had the responsibility
an? obligation to make it known, particularly when the defeﬁse con|
+3ntly inguired about -it. See eg. TT. 72T 2%

17. For all of the above reasons, as well as those set forth
ir previ{ously filed and served affidavits, defendants are entitled
tc the vacation of their judgments of conviction and the dismissal]
of the indictment as to them or, in the alternative, to a new trig
or. in the further alternative, to an evidentiary hearing to prov

tht allegations set forth in this and the other affidavits heretos-

fo~e served and filed herein.




WHEREFORE, it is respectfully requested that this Court grant

me of the relief prayed for herein as well as such other

em just and proper in the premises.

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLE

and further relief as may sé€

Sworn to before.me this "=

19th day of December,. 1977 .

NOTARY PUBLIC -

30 L WASAINGTOR _ -
“otory Public, Sicte of New Tork
No. 31-4508439 a2
Queatified in New-York County ~>=
ommission - Expires -March 30, 3974




5724 :
Foberts — People — cross

Q The security section?..-..:

Q . And what was your particular assignment?:=.*
A I can't remember, offhand.
[} To p‘x’otect the speakers or anything like that?

A Edicanttorecalloss o

Q@ -“Who ‘were-the speakers?=-

A Ozzle-Davis-was one of the speakers. —I.can'tz-==
remember any of:-the others.-

Q \And it was the job of the security section to de
security-at. that meeting?”
A tYes.zcn,

G GThat7was a memorial-for Halcolm-X2?= X2
A eYesoZoo

Q —-And lMalcdm X is a very Mponaht figure in -
relation to thé Black Panther Party, is he not?
A Yes.

Q 211 of these defendants, you've heard

talk of Malcolm X ,haven't you? ---=
A Yes.

Q How, after —- now, you've attenced lots of
'rallies and meetings while you were in the Black Panther

Party c-cznceming lialcolm X?




5725
Roberts — People -— cross
A TItve attended lots of rallies, yes, not all

concerning Halcolm. 2

Q But there have been many concerning Malcolm?

~.

L YeR o cxis e o o — |

Q. _¥ere you ever asked.to speak.at one of those.

memorials :for Nalcolm?.-=
A FYes.t :
Q@ fAnd you atdn't;aid ycL?;c;?. -
< didn't’hear. you.:
Q “You didn't speak?® ==\
A The one I was askéd to speak at was back at —- back
ﬁtﬁzezéqSeverruth_,évenue-——ﬂ’heml-did speakxzic "u"’tr:' )
Q > fi¥Youdid speak;ati;one;nbut;you-ﬁidnit?.spea}gat:;
another;=1s ‘that= yourstestimony2=rrI -
A -1 didn'tTspeak’ ‘at:the one at Cooper Junior: liigh
School.zixi .
Q Oh, you were asked to ;penk that day?‘
A Yes. I didn't speak at that one, mainly beca;ise a5
don't like ta]}:ixig 4n front of large groups. -Arriving
s—-——yatk at 2026 Sevenuth Avenue- T was asked by_ Afeni Shak
give a brief speech on Malcolm. Over there they had 2

system set up, but then the office, they were playing 3

about a five-minute talk on uhat bappened at t{:e __ vha{
A SV

ol gl P ¥

2\
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Roberts -~ People — cross:
happened there at the assassination of Malcolm.

(Continued on the next page.)
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Roberts - People - Cross

BY MR. LEFCOURT?

Q You were there, weren't you?-
A At the assassination of Malcolm X?

Q Yes.
L Yes, I was.

Q Did you help do it?
AN No 8T dil:l not.:<- . g , £

Q -.You were his bodyguard that night,:weren't you}
A KHE That afternoon,fye;,;at- Was .=

Q .And there we;‘e no other, police around but you -
were there?

A - T really-don't know.

%You didn'tisee -any,:did you?_\v

X?
A No, it isn't. But would you like to know the truth
about the aséassinaticn?
1% SHA;(UR: Yes.
Q: .-¥e 21l would like to know the truth about the

assassination: i i {

THE COURT: Counselor, you behave yqurself-
- ; V

MR. PHILLIPS: I think the admonitién —- may

the witness ansver the question?‘ 5 )
: i K3
vz




K2

5727
Roberts — People - Cross

THE COURT: Does the counsel wish the question

to be answered?-
A. SHAKUR: Yes.
MR. PHILLIPS: Yes; he’ said so.
BY MR. LEFCOURT:.
Q You are going to tell us the truth about what
happened to KZ Malcolm X?
ALOLUYesix e
Q@ . And this 4s the truth that you observed? =i
A Yes.
Q Did you testify at the trial of EHEH three
people who were charged with the ‘assassination?

A i No. o,

Q £ But 'you saw ‘it happen?
Ay eas=a

Q But you didn't testify?

AWl Ho.,
Q Didn't you want the truth to come out there?
A Yes.

Q ¥Why didn't you testify?
A I wasn't called.

Q But you knew what happened?
A Yes.

Q And ycu didn't testify?




5728

Roberts - People - Cross

Q Isn't it a Tact that during that trial two
Huslims were put on trial; do you recall that?
A Yes.

MR. PHIELLIPS: Your Honor, there KEHY were three
defendants in that case. Hr. Lefcourt again has
everythiné confuseds =

MR. LEFCOURT:-: I:don't have --. -—

THE COURT: -All right.PRoceed:

Q And the third one was not & Yuslim, was he? :--
A I don't know whether he was or not. It was stated
that he-had been in the Feviark-mosquez-1-dind't know-=--
whetherhe was or;wasn';;

Q - HOw,.you discussed~thisrwholeitestimony with—
Hr. Phillips'abéut‘nalcolm X; ~haven't you?
P Yes. ¢

Q And Mr. Phillips told you that there 1s a time
that Mr. Lefcourt is going to ask you Bbou£ Malcolm X
or that somebody is going to ask you about him; isn't
that right?

A Yes.

Q And you are prepared to glve us an answer, aren|

you?

A Yes. § 4 Lt (jé;z:>
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Roberts - People - Cross
Q. And he is not objecting, he 1s?
No.
Q Does it have anything to do wfith your under-
cover work in the Black Panther Party?
A No.
Q But you zme prepared this point, didn't you?
A .The question was asked and I gave_what I thought _
was a suitable answer.s
qQ ~And EIME didn't Mr: Phillips say,:TTell: that.=-
in court"?re +
A No.
Q __Did you discuss your testimony about. this subj
~ in court?
/ ?Aboutivhét:aubject7__tf L
Q - T About-the assassination’ of:Kalcolm: X.3 <.
AT donit guite understnd the question. <
Q wWell, with ¥r. PLillips, didn't you plan what
your testimonf was going to be concerning this matter?
A Ko.
G But you told him what 4t was going to be ir
you were ;sked7
A T only told him what really happened there.

@  Okay. Wnat heppened? -

VWhen the meeting started, one of his 11ieutenants,




@’V‘) 2 ‘“ ‘wVW\
L’ }\(y% 5730

Roberts - People — Cross

ot
Behjamin Goodman, was the first one to speak..- )y\\,r“
At the end of Benjarin Goodman's spee#ch, the 4
ostrum security was relieved. I had been on the first kf
rostrum security..So. I proceeded .to the back where we
et the security-captain who told us to Just sit around
and in a bhalf hour H you would be on post again.
At that-time: there-was another group-that.was on:
securi’ .y. Arter’Goodman,rlnished, his speez{cb,——,he:introduc

Malecolm X

g Mal;ﬂ.m approached the platform and gave the XXX

Muslim greetlpg, at which time two individuals near the

front-ofithe auditoryium-jumpéd up, one hollering,: "Get 7]
’ ; httime.‘therE'WBs’ =

small commotion.=—— - Wi (4%

"I started down'the aisle'wﬁere'the commotion-was /4
and the next thing I knew chairs were being overturned,
§hots were being fired.

Two individuals were running past the front stage,
firing at Malcolm and then proceeding down the miadle
aisle of the ballrcdiom.

'-[f As I turned, I saw lialcolm grasp his chest. I»didn'
see him fall. And I followed down one aisle, and by the
o time I got to the back of the auditorium the ‘two 5oy

dividuals that was in the middle aisle, we arrived at

e S d/"’/"J“’J”,T %9‘,_,:/_
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Roberts - People - Cross
the same time.

One went by and at that particular time I grabbed a
chair. The individual who was subsequently caught, AREEE
named Hayer , he locked in my direction and pointed his--
what looked like a .45, at which time I made & side step,
and as I stepped to the side he fired, the bullet missing
but hitting my —- hitting my J;ckét.

I then threw the chair, knocking him down. After a

couple of seconds elapsed, I turend around, I saw the
_8ame individual that I knocked dcwn with the chair get- -
ting to his feet and hobbling out the front, at which

time another member of Malcolm's security group came down.-

the far aisle and took a shot at the same individual. -

I then turned, proceeded out the front door.. I saw ..

a large group of people and they bad an 4ndividual, kick-

ing and stomping him.

I came back into the ballroom, went to the stage
where I proceeded to give Halfcolm mouth to mouth re-
suscitation.

\What eppeared to be twenty minutes later that the
police finally got there and took him over to Medical
FEM Center.

Q Now, you were in Malcolm's organization at the

time, were you not?
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Roberts - People - Cross

Yes.

Q And were you a police officer then?

Yes. o

Q Patrolman or a detective?

Patrolman.

q 'That was in 1965%

Yer soil o

Q February 21st? =~

YesiT i

Q And you had been been at various meetings that
¥alcolm spoke a‘t, had you not?
A =Yes.

Q  TAt the RUBBHEH Audubon-Ballroom:where that %]
happened?_ - 3
A Yesoa

Q And every time prior to that night that he
spoke 1t was always large contigents of uniformed policy
there, were there not?
A Yes.

Q Bx;t that night there was none, right?
A This afternoon there was only a few on the outside

Q There was no uniformed police in five hundred|

1ike there usually was when he spoke? :
o 5 v 5 e i

THE COURT: Counselor, at this time we will
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.receu: for lunch, and I suggest—
HR. CRAIN: ) Ygur Honor, -can the witness im.

please answer the question mbefore we recess?

THE COURT: Kr. Crain, will you please be -.

seated..<a. -

I suggest to.counsel that when..we resume we

do not try the Malcolm X .casSe...This’is-a’ case in: ]
which '.t}xése‘derchdénts ra;re on-trials Iiﬁavei;'aemit.
this"deviation only. .because. you asked' the witnessz
whether he”killed-HMalcolm X

HMR. LEFCOURT::- I-think -1t should be only be- -

cause the witness énd Mr. Phillips-had agreed==

THE. COURT?. “YourTsarcasm:again;aMr. Lefcourt;s

willwiil —-
¥e willdecldresarluncheon=recess:
T i The Jury’4s cautioned nf:t ‘to discuss the case-
among-~ yourselved ox‘:v‘ith:an'yon‘e~eise:“’¥ou ‘are to -
‘b_cﬁoﬂt”inu_g to.maintaln an opgwimind as to the guilt

or innocence of the accuased.

Should anyone approach you to discuss-this:

case, mplease avoid conversation.-If he persists;
report the incident to the Court.

You are, in no wa
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of the case during the time you serve as Jurors.

You are’to-continue to avold reading nevspaper
accounts. You are to continue to avoid 1istening
to radio ;-eports or viewing reports on television.-

We will resume at two-rifteen.

[Whereupon, the Jjurors and the glternate Jurors
-w-c =r qeaye rthe: courtroom, -&nd the following proceedings—
take place:] -

THE COURT: All rigbt. The Court is in recess.

[Wireupon, there was a luncheon recess as
declared by the Court]l

[Continued::on -mext=pagelzx
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AFTERNOON SESSION

TRIAL CONTINUED

(A1l the defendants, thelr counsel and the

assistant district attorneys were present in the

courtroom.) .
+ e PR COURT: A1l right, have the Jury out. .

(Whereupon the members of-the jury. enter the -

courtroom and take their respective-seats in the

Jury box.)o=
THE COURT:. All right; we_may Tesume..==.

MR. LEFCOURT: . "May I:gpologizeito those:jurorsg

/ ,
who sometimes. only -view my:-back because-of-of _in- -

advertence in walking up front?:nt?

DeTE6TIVEC-GENE | -ROBER T S,T =, previously-swors

. resumed_the stand and testlrled‘rurther-u.tollows:

CROSS,—EXAHIHATIDH:(continued) ot

BY MR: LEFCOURT:=

Q iKNow Detective _Roberts,rdid you ever-testify be

fore any grand jury or investigating body concerning the

testimony you gave this morning 2bout the assassination

of Malcolm X2=
THE COURT: - Counselor;.I -thought.1 .suggested: ]

gnd now I-direct that:we_not go-into the Malzolm X

~case.: .That_has nothing to:do-with. the case:on-tril

MR. LEFPCOURT::: our.Honor,-thatiwas my last//;

P e B e
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pexk point. That's a}l I just wanted to ask that

i q’ue‘st—it;n and move on to something else.
THE COURT: All right, manifestly there can be
good reasons for not using & witness in a trial.

Now please get on with something that's relevant to

the 1;sues before the Court. -~

+~—- - MR. LEFCOURT:-:Well;zyour Honor, may we have -
Just that question answered? —
THR COURT:.. No. _ _

4 MNow that morning that you went to the Balcolm X
memorial-at Cooper Jre High School, -do _you recall what time
you y?ke up;that:ﬁornir‘lg? :

16, bt V}Io. - o
Q Well, do:-you ;‘ecall;that‘tl;e meeting;the mem-— ek
“oridl was ‘about 9.30 a.m. .at tl—;e school? . .
A Yes.
Q And after that, later on in the day, you re-
turned\to 2026, did you not?
A _Yes.
Q And at that time, you saw Massadou from the Na-
tional office of the Black Panther Party, did you not?w
A I think he was there ‘at that time, yes. .- 5

And others were there?




I hereby retain William M. Kuntler ond any other attorney

he may select to assist him} to represent me in my motion to

obtain a new trial.

== Thomas Jdmnson

Dated: November 22, 1977 -

Witnessed-by:

“%
Chaplain Nurridin Faiz

Sworn to before me this -T-
22nd day of November 1977

M




Retainer -

I hereby retain William M. Kunstler and any other

attorney he may select .to assist him, to represent me

in my motion to obtain a new trial.

e

R Ngrman Butlery

Dated: ~-November 23, 1977 :7 .7

Witnessed by:

Chaplain Nurlddin Falz

Sworn to before me thias
23rd day of November, 1977




SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK : PART 30

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUT-
LER) ‘and KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X~
JOHNSON), " .

~ o v

o _Defendants

STATE OF 'NEW-YORK )
COUNTY - OF NEW YORK) —
g WILLIAM-CL“CHANCE;;Ur.:’Qeing duly -sworn;-deposes-and says:
1. I was the attornmey for, MUEEMMAD . ABDUL AZIZ_ -(NDRMAN 73X

BUTLER), one of the movants herein, at his trial in 1966 on ‘the wi-

thin indictment.
~ 57 As such, .I-am convinced that there would have -been a dif-
feren’é"i‘esalt’irfsofar -as-my thencclient ‘was concerned ~had - THOMAS HA{
GAN, :BKE OF: HI8 co-deferidHnts. thereat ;'\_ﬁu‘ni’shed,the_ names=of his’ =
confederates :An<the. assassination-of ‘Malcolm X-as well=as .the TGRS
details of the planning and execution of the crime.

3. Moreover; I did not know the identity of the "Brother Jea!
who was depicted giving mouth-to-mouth resuscitation to the’,said Ma.
colm X, nor, I am sure, did any of my co-eounsel in the case, even
though we had asked for such informatioh before and during the tria]

. Furthermore, now that I know that "Brother Jean" was an
undercover member of the New York City Police Department. named Genel
Roberts and that he was an eyewitness to the assassination, I feél
that his testimony on my defendant's behalf would have buttressed
his aase by (1)contradicting many of the People's witnesses; (2)ex

onerating my defendant; and (c)furnishing significant evidence thaf




5 encies were deeply 1nvolved in the said assassination.. =sa.

5 I am firmly convinced thab the identity, of -this police

: officer was delibera\:ely kept ‘from the defense in-order. to- prevent

it from producing highly relevant and: material evidence’that would
fAcmen

in my: opinion, have probably changei the  verdict-against my client

to a more .favorable onex

i 6. I believe. that, ‘gdven-the:existing state-of thel law, def]

endants®herein: are:clearly entitled to.a new triza for: all-of: the

grounds. set: forth™ abovesev=i.

Shm A s blie

WILLIAM C. CHANCE, Jr., -:z.
Sworn'to before me this

day of.Decemben,=1977.




SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK : PART 30

sl : 'Ind. No. 871/65

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUT- :
~LER) and KEALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15%
JOHNSON) , 3

befendants.

STATE ‘OF NEW .YORK )
)

85.}

COUNTY OF NEW YORK) ™~

CYIOSEPH- P PINCKNEY being-duly sworn, deposes and_saysz,.{

1. I mas one of the'attorneys for KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X
JOHNSON) at his trial om the within indictment. Charles Beavers,

— my. co-counselj died -some seven. Or S0 years & e SN
2. I have been informed-by WILLIAM. Mz KUNSTLER; "~ my tex-client

: - present: attorney*‘that THOMAS . HAGAN;=“orie. of -his" co—def dants at

v;A,,,E-, —%he,tnial -4g. now. prepared.-to:reveal-the names of.his confederaty
in the assassinagion of Malcolm X and furnish the full details of
the planning and execution of the crime.. I feell that if Mr. Hag

__had-been prepared to do this during the trial, 1t would- probably
have resulted in a more favorable verdict tnsofar as Mr. Johnson
was concerned. ;

NS iow - ii-3s «MP. Kunstler has-also.informed me that the identity of.
"Brother Jean," a security guard who gave mouth-to-mouth resuscl
tatién $o Malcolm X after the latter was shot, is now known and

_-that herwas,win_fact, oné, Gene -Roverts, an undercover police Off

of the City of New York. I am convinced that, had defense couns




known this man's identity before or during the trial,‘he might we
_have_been called as _a witness for one or more defendants. Among
other things, he might have exonerated my client as well as ex-

plained the stazzmnge absence of police security at the Audubon Ball
_room meeting .of February. 21l,.1965.. The withholding of his name,
clearly known to the aufhorities, deprived all defendants of an

eyewitness who mght have been immeasurably helpful to them at tj

trial, :-¢

ST tils sy professional belieg that, given ‘the preermnt-wi]

lingness of Mr. Hagan to:testify fully about his role-and that -of

his, chfederaieeninvthé assassination-~ef--Malcolm-¥X; and the mow }

identity of "Brother Jean," these defendants are clearly entitled

to a new trial-under:New York-law., :==.

Sworn fo before me this '’

day of January, 1978

NOTARY PUBLIC i




SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YOBK,—’_'"
COUNTY OF NEW YORK : PART 30 TR

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

-v- Ind. No. 871/65
MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUT
LER) and EHALIL ISLAM ‘(THOMAS 15X
JOHNSON), ..,

Defendants.

PLEASE TAKi NOTICE, that defendants, by their counsel,

will move this Court, upon the affidavit of WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER,
duly verified the 5th day of January, 1978; and all the proceeding
heretofore had herein, at a Part 30 thereof, held in and for the
County of New York at the Criminal Courts Building, 100 Centre
Street, .New York, N.Y. 10013, on .the 16th day of January, 1978,
at 10:00 ‘o'clock in the forenoon thereof or as soon thereafter as
counsel can be heard; for an order producing said defendants ins
the said Part 30.on the 19th day of:January, A1978; :in .connection
with their motion for relief pursuant to §440.10, CPL, ‘which is™
scheduled to be heard on said-date; and retaining-sald defendants
in a penal institution within the City of New York until the fing

dte gmination of their sald motion by this Court, and granting su

other and further relief as may be just and proper 1n the premise

Yrs ,‘ etc.,

’ WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER
District Attorney: .-. 223 gﬁgidw?gy,diooogz =
Criminal Motion Clerk™. i (212)5724:3303 o

Dated: New York, N.Y.-
January 5, 1978




SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK : PART 30

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK - :
—-v- i Ind. No. 871/65
MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUT-
LER) and KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X
JOHNSON), &

Defendants.

STATE OF NEW YORK )
COUNTY OF NEW YORK)

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER, being duly sworn; deposes and says:

1. I am the attorney for the defendants-herein whose ‘moti|
for relief pursuant to $440.10, CPL, is scheduled for a hearing on
January 19, 1978; in this Court.

2. Because of the complex nature of this motion, I con-
sider 4t dmperative that defendants.be present during the said hea
ing. -I consider this motion to:be-a major:-proceeding affecting the
most important and significant rights-ofsthe .defendants -and thaty:
without their presence, the said hearing could not be ‘complete. "=
3. On December 27, 1978, by letter, I asked the Assistany

District Attorney in chrge ef this matter to produce sald defendant

and he has Just informed me' that it should be done by application

to this Court.
4. Furthermpre, in view of the fact that the proceedings

herein will probably be lenghthy, it 1s also requested that both
afepdants be kept in the New York City area in a suitable place of
detention until said proceédings have been completed in this Court.
Constant consultation will be required, given the nﬁture of this

proceeding, and this can onl'y be done if they are physically pre-




.
sent within reasonable proximity to my office.

5. The defendants are located within 100 miles of this
city, Mr. Butler being at the Ossining Correctional Facility and
Mr. Johnson at the Walkill Correctional Facility. It is further)
requested-that ‘they ‘be kept within the same penal institution in
the City of New Bork, should this request be granted;: and that g

able arrangements be hade thereat-for thelr protection. i .

6. No prior request for the relief sought herei;'x, othg

than that .set forth above, has been made *to-this-or any other cd
WHEREFORE ; defendants,resp'e_ctfully request that 2all o
the relief sought-herein be -granted,;ias. well-as :such -other ‘and

further relief as may be deened Just and equitable in the premi

VRS R SR

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER . -

Sworn .to:before me-this :5th

day of Januarg,:-1978

~ NOTARY PUBLIC




CERTIFIBETE OF SERVICE
The undersigned, an.atéc_r"ney at law duly licensed. as {
by the State of New York, hereby cfz;rtifies, under the pains and
altier of perjury, that; on the 5th day of January, 1978, he sej
the foregoing motion and,supporfing affidavit by- prepaidv United

States first class mail upon-the District Attorney, New York Col

at the address designated by-the latter for the service-of lega]

papers

WILLIAM M. . KUNSTLER-

Dated:= New York,:’
January 5,




SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK : PART 3

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
= 8 Ind. No. 871/65

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUTLER)
and KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X JOHNSON),

Defendants.

STATE OF NEW YORK )

She

s
COUNTY OF NEW YORK)-.:.

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER, being duly sworn, deposes- and says
! 1. I'am the attorney for defendants herein-and Ivam sub
mitting this. supplemental -affidavit in support of.their motion f]
new trials pursﬁant to §440.10, Criminal Procedure Law.

2. On December 19, 1977, I served and filed an.affidavi
supplemental .to others-previously served and filed:by-me;in:thig|
mat%er. In-Y15 ofZsaid -affidavit;+Iisupplied _information-as-=to-t|
invglvement.ef_the Federal -Bureau--of Investigation-in-the inves
gation of:the assassination .of:.Malcolm-X::: Since:that:timejiothg
information has come to light.which, in my opinion, requires thg
drafting of another supplemental affidavit in this case.

3. During the trial of the within indictment, goth fror
eyewitness testimony and ballistics evidence, it was clear that
Luger had been used in the slaying of Malcolm X. As pointed ou
my affidavit of Decembe; 8, 1977, this gun was picked up by Char
H. Blackwell, wrapped in a jacket, and, according to his Grand J
testimony, then turned over to a "Brother Jean." TT. 1663. "Brec
ther Jean" was later identified, long after the trial, as Gene I

berts, a New York Police Department-undercover agent. At the t

(2




owever, Blackwell said that his Grand Jur:y testimony was wrong’ 2
hat he had handed the Luger to one Rueben Francis. TT. 1743-414
4. Despite this fact and the additional one that Rueben
rancis had shot and wounded Hagan while the latter was attempti
o escape from the Audubon Ballroom after the shooting, he was n{
alled as a witness at the trial. Francis was arrested on the daj
he assassination and inéicted on March 10, 1965, for assaulting
an énd related charges. -~ He was freed on bail two days later, b
aving ‘been set: at-7$10,000.00." When he -didn't -appear in court on
lay 725,' 1965, an order-of forfeiture was entered three days late
: 5. On or about _February 2; 1966, while the trial.of .thi
_ndi;:tment was in progress, Francis voluntarily surrendered hims
o the Federal Bureau of Investigation. It might be pointed out
t the time of Francis' surrender; the People were:still present|
‘hei;_’ca’se, yet he ‘was not ;:alled to testify. :.On information -an
eli;evf,‘ ind’,notice wWas given ‘toithe defense’=that Francisrwas now
bleinie
& 6. It should be kept in mind that one witness who was (
fled by the People, namely- Ronald Timberlake, was permitted
estify in a closed courtroom from which all spectatcrsdand the
edia were excluded. TT. 1289. It was Timberlake whzaremoved
45 caliber pistol attributed to Hagan from the Audubon Ballroo:
aken it to his home, "broke the gun down. . . inspected the ch
. . took the bullets out of the clip." TT. 1318. He had tﬁen {
ot the New York City Police Department, but the FBI. TT. 1323.
he agents arrived at his home, he gave them the weapon and "[T|

arked it, tagged it and slipped it in a bag." TT. 1325.

2
=P ( &




'

7. All of the above information is contained in

either the trial transcript or in the file of People v. Frances)

Ind. No. 873/65, New York County.

WHEREFORE, defendants repeat thelr prayers as set fort

in the Notice of Motion-and papers submitted subsequent thereto

L (U RV P N AV WP

WILLIAM M.. KUNSTLER -—

Sworn to-before me -this . -

day of January, 1978

INOTARY .PUBLICZLIC
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!SUPREME COURT OF: THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK : PART 35

i
i}
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

2.0n 3 Ind. No. 871/65

1

'MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUT- _ :
1ER) and KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X °°

.JOHNSON), .:

:

Defendants.

. STATE OF NEW- YORK et
D sSts
COUNTY OF NEW YORK) .-
l' WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER, being duly sworn,=deposes -and’
says:
| 3 1. I am the acto;‘ney for defendants herein and I
\ar submitting this affidavit in opposition to the People's papers
served and.filed on February 9, 1978 in bpposit;on,to»,defendant,‘s
motion hereiniz-=i%.
2. In essence,-the, People-claim thats
a. The affidavit: submitted: by co-defendant-Thomas:
Hagan is (1) not newly discovered evidence because]
it is not materially. different than his testimony]
at the trial, or (2) conceding that 1t is- material]
different, it would not have probably altered the
Jury's verdicts; and
b. The failure to reveal the identity of then Pats
man Gene Roberts does not warrant the relief sougl]
by defendants..
3. The affidavit of Thomas Hagan™- :. ..

The People’s claims with reference to 4this docume




| : ; A
Not only 1is the a‘i‘fidavit i

;are patently ridiculous on their face.

SNl e e

(Iguestion considerably more extensive than Hagan's testimony at the

rial, furnishing full details as to the planning and execution of

he assassination of Malcolm X, but it reveals the fiirst names of

aid co-defendant's accomplices and states that Hagan is prepared

mes and last known addresses at any evidentiary
s |

To reveal their full names and I‘Esidence“

o give their Fudna;

hearing set by this Court.

would subject them to harrassment—and prel
I
In comparing this affidaviy

e trial, the Court will-see that ;~at thel

ata in-a public-affidavit
ure as well as possible physical harm.

vith, Hagan's testimony at_th

attér, he was evasive and answered many questions by refusing to=

jo so. Eg. see TT. 3152, 3154, 3155, 3159, 3176, 3177, 3178, 3219,
238 and 3239. Even when ordered by the Court under threat of con-

empt, .he refused to elaborate on-details. TT. 3155. - Not only did

he prosecutor emphasize. the significance'foi‘v_his failure ‘to-:answer-=

~putthe—Court;—in its charges—

nany -questions on -cross-examination;
"
14106,-.4209 ;74111 ;4114

frequently-alluded to-that -fact: ~:Eg. see e
/

113 and 4114.
It is patently obvious that the material in his

Lrfidavit and his willingness to elaborate on 1t when called as a
witness is considerably different than his testimony at the trial
nd that any jury might be considerably impressed by thé full story§
n information and belief, the authorities at the Eastern Correctio]
L1 Facility, where he 1s presently incarcerated, thought enough of
his affidavit to place him in protective custody at that institutio

Ls soon as it was made public last December. Moreover, in consider

now an

é@

ing the potential effect on a jury of his testimony as it 1is

25




|
|
|
;ticipated, the Court must-.take into consideraticn the fact that thez“e

‘is a mass of other new evidence that would be presented to the same|

panel, some of which’has already been discussed. in previous affidav

‘;ts and some which will be set forth, infra. There can be no doubt

|

th" Hagan will be a powerful and compelling witness for defendants|
Ao

atany future. trial and that he Asa position to reveal--the complete

story about the planning and execution of-the plot to murder Mal-

colm X.1:- To. say: otherw

4. The hiding of:the identity of. Gene Roberts--ris

‘ i The People take -the- position that “there.was: no:-duty

|
ise-is to flout”a2ll reason -and ogdchopir. ‘
|
|
t
5|

‘v«hatsoevnr on ‘the prosecution:to:- -reveal= that -an undercover agent.wa

’presanu on the stage at the time of thel assassination, chased one of]

\the murderers (Hagan), was. shot at by him and felled him with & chaw

thus facilitating his capture. - When_the Peeple have 'pecullarlyg‘el

1
.evant information about-ithe identity of 2 .crucial -eyewitness, W which

\kﬂow" edge A5 uniquely: their own" and: could nots be known:to: the: de—

'i!en.,e, :and, this fact s -not: made known:bo-the. defense= it ;s':no;dif:

11Ierent than hiding or concealing physical evidence. -~ This 1s even

more SO when ‘the: witness,~as  here,: would have ssubstantiated.a :elaim

abetted by the

Ly the defense that the assassination: was aided or

.Iauthcrities .

! To claim that the defense knew a1l about Gene Rober
Lecause his name appeared on. a witness list which was eventually tur|

Fd over to it, is an example of pure sophistry. The defense at the

&trial kept :asking for this 1ist, TT. 181, but the prosecutor con-
i )
! = S35 SN 3 /\
' 7
3 )

%




O on was denied i Ttiwasing

sistently refused to turn it over. 1d. See &lso TT. 66-66, when

the defense moved for the production of the list, which said mo-

t until long after the trial had begun

! that this list was finally given to the defense, TT. 1795, at a

taining as it does some 119 names

1
i
! time when it was valueless, con

and addresses. . 1797. In fact, the defense counsel pointed

5
| out that they had asked for the 1ist from the beginning and that,

pecause -of the number of names on it, it was now impossible to @

anything with it.. TT.. 1796.

But the most ingenuous aspectjof,the,People]s use

I! or this list to excuse the- failure. to call Roberts. or inform the

. defense -of his existence. is contained. in-the aforesaid 1ist itse

! Introduced as Defense Exhibit AA (formerly People's 39 for ident

fication), ‘it contains mnot only Gene Roberts'- name pbut. that of 2

Joan Roberts,=1iving at:the same address’as the'onE:attributed kv

Detective Roberts:c Presumably,zJ0an Roberts-4s the- wife -of Geng

f Roberts-and; 4f« shei were not presentfat:the,Audubon Ballroom-On

February 21, 1965 - and akir Bl difficult to imagine that an unde)
- cover'agent,yould take his wife to such a function - then her n

! was added for protective coloration. Under any circumstances,

' two names, included in many husband-wife pairs, could hardly ex

i the interest of the defense, even assuming they had any time in)

! which to attempt to interview 119 new potential witnesses.

Moreover, even if they had, by chance, attempted

to interview Roberts, the overwhelming odds are that he would J

| agree to any such interview (he refused to entertain one with

sent counsel)And, i1f he did, would not have disclosed his undf

f there

cover status. The éimple fact of the matter 1s that g9
0

¥/ Exhibit A




5 '
ever was a case in which disclosure was mandated, it 1s this one.

The entire defense case was prejudiced by the failure to reveal

what only the People and the police knew - - namely, that an underj

cover police officer had been a vital eyewitness to the assassina-
tion and its aftermath, a witness, who, pbecause-of his training
and position, would have carried enormous weight with the jury.
Roberts' affidavit does not answer any of the ser-—

11 that-it-contains:]

jous issues-raised by the defendants. herein:
are representacions‘that he knows’nothiﬁg,ﬁbout anything_and'dces;
not -even-admit-that he was an undercover»policaAagent;,LBut some 7

~Thereé is-no <=

of what 1t does not contain is of importance'her
allegation that he- saw either defendant at the scene ofi the mur—

der; in this connection, when one takes into consideration the

‘shaky backgrounds and conflicting stories of .the eyewitnesses who
!
[did testify, -Roberts? testimony couldrhéve'beenicf;enormous signi=

i
ficance :in the. outcome,ofﬁthe*trial~inso£ax,Es.these'defendants:‘*{
b

are concernedsnzIf nothing élse;—he,would'haveufleshed'out‘thg s
defense claim that the police were somehow involved in the ﬁurder.

: 2 For the Court's convenience,-a copy of the 1ist re-
ferred to above is attached hereto as Exhibit B,

5. There is one more factor }n this puzzling case
which requires some elaboration. Although Malcolm X was shot with)]
among others, a Luger, this weapon was never found. It was taken
from the scene by one Reuben Francis, TT. 1631, a person who was
not_called to testify at the trial, even though it was he who had
shot Hagan while the latter was fleeing. Francis had been indicte
for the lattzr crime, jumped bond, and finally turned himself in

to the FBI on or about February 2, 1966, while the trial was in
Y




(It is passing strange, indeed, that Francis' davailabilit

was not made.known to the defense, in view of the fact that he, 1ik

Roberts, was a key witness to all of the events surrounding the cr-

ime and had, .in fact, .taken _one of the murder weapons from the scen
2 wéapon that eventually disappeared: .
: 6. Finally, the so—called -"abundant!. ox "overwhelming|

evidence.;against these*defendantsfinvolved nmphysical’:evidence wh{

soever, but solely. the testimony -of seven eyewitnesses,thraeof,whoz

identified -both;three who identified ‘Butler-only:and one’ who ident

se -witnesses _contradicted each-othe

fied -Johnson only: - Many of .the

and themselves as»—well,and all left much.to.be desired ‘ascto.their)

credibility. A brief summary of each such witness will-make ‘this

abundantly..clear: =z :

- Cary Thomas:. identified Johnson-(TT.-242) .and But
Ter (TT-237). -/This witness:had numerous :narcoticsg
convictions i{(TT.267) -and was, -at. .the. time ofizthe’
trial;sunder indictment for. arson
had been:a ‘heroin-addict->(TT.280)
and had been:committed.:to “Bellevue
psychiatric ‘case ~“two. years earlierai(TT.2T:

Not only was

as well as Gene Roberts,-. 2
self,::(TT.30U, 333, 470) ‘@and ad
testimonial errors. (TT. 466) - :-He was paid:as a3
material witness, ~(-TT.362) =

a.

r as being involvel
urder (TT.1
16) and Joh
but then said ‘could only identify ‘"one for sure;
i.e. Butler. (TT.1568) Told pol‘ice'couldn',t -ident]
anyone _"until I see more pictures of them."- g
1598)

Edward De Pina: this 70—yeax‘—old Port\‘zguese,alie
(TT. 805 Y5 with-a criminal record -of.assault,.-P0
and federal liquor law violation-(TT.828-9) 1

fied Butler whom he had never seen until the day
the murder .(TT. 846). . .In court, he mistakenly i

|




tified one of the defendants' lawyers

as the man who had taken him to Bellevue
Hospital to look at Hagan. (TT.890) He
picked Butler out of lineup which containg
white men. (TT. 937)

Jasper Davis: identified Butler as the ma
sitting next to him in-the Ball:=Room (TT.
1095). He was shown only one photograph
of the defendant. (TT.1166-7)

Ronald Timberlake: this witness would not
testify until-the “courtoom.was cleared of
s.and the pres GeHe
4 Butler as-involve
ing. (TT. 1317):: He took the .45 pistol.
home with -him (TT. 1318) _and later turned
it over to the FBI (TT..1323-252-He was t
only witness to-testify that Butler.was =
caught and pummeled. by the crowd -outside
the Ballroom. (TT. 1374-5) -°°

Charles Blackwell: jdentified Butler whoi
fie had never. seen-before. (TT..1621-22)
from a-distancecof-no closer.:than--25 feef
(TT. 1622): zHe contra

testimony=and his statemen

as toczthe disposi;ion:ofzthé

1743) .First; he,saidithat‘he*hadﬂgivenh
the weapon -to.;Gene Roberts_(grand-jury:2
police) but at:.the trial changed -this:.to
Reuben Francis:(TT. 1662-3, 1743)-Admit
lying as to where two assassins sitting.
(TT. 1666) and about their rushing to th
stage.-(TT. 1745) -He contradicted his
grand jury testimony on many occasions.
(TT. 1693, 1736-40). %/

. Vernal Temple: identified Johnson as 2
he had seen in the Ballroom (TT. 663) arf
he recognized him as a man he had seen g
before in a Muslim meeting in Chicago 9
years earlier. (TT. 665, T76)

Fn essence, the above is the "abundant" or noverwhelming” evidenc

ggainst these defendants, both of whom had family alibis and were

gpprehended at the scene. Taking intd consideration the total ab

f physical evidence, the pandemonium at the scene and the result

¥/ He said he saw _Johnson briefly without a weapon near the ladie

T room. (TT. 1625) iy
|




Iyncertainty of eyewitness identification under such cifcumstances,
iﬁhevshaky nature of the testimony itself-as well as the lack of -cr
iAbility 'of most if not’ all of the said witnesses, and the external
2and internal contradictions in their.testimony,-and one could hard
Ely characterize this evidence as anything but: weak -and uncertain.

In Judging .the. effect ‘'of “the newly discovered-evidence-upon-a jury,

the strength:sor lack .of ‘strength- of ‘'the case against.movants must|

- ibe given ‘considerable weight.

‘f 7. From:all of the above,; as well -as the material:don—
i
A S |¢alned in previously submitted affidavits, ‘and the’ total-unrespon-
'
i

isive mature. of -the People's .affidavits -and memorandum;—the. ‘defenda]

iare clearly.entitled 'to-a new trial, or, at the very :least, to an
|
|Fvidentiary hearing .to .produce Thomas Hagan and others to testify

before:this Court

nly by.:such a hearing; ishouldithei Court be re

‘mctant ‘to ‘grant;-the néw trial sought:by defendants aupon-the: papers

before—lt’ can an-intelligent and thoughtful ‘decision.be~made-in=

mhis éase.:»:Defendantsimmaintain that; urider:existing: law,.ihey are

mleaAly entitled to.a new trial on ‘what:they -have .shown herein; by
that they are prepared ‘to meet their burden.of-proof: should this .
Fourt opt for such an evidentiary hearing.
WHEREFORE, defendants respectfully move for some or all
Ff the relief prayed-for 4in their Notice .of -Motion, together- with
Eous
“i 5? Such other ‘and further relief as may be just.and proper in the. pre
lE= 0 /
=532 ,mise;. 7
w332

o

il AV IE NG A
' i 5 WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER
_|iSworn to before me this

“{flth day of February '1976 )\
M unldT ffor - - v

No:[gp.m “PUBLIC




-ICE DEPARTMENT

NEW YORK. N ¥ 10038

"

‘New ork

February 1, 1978

William M. Kunstler, Esq. -
853 Broadway
New York, N.Y. 10003

Dear Mr.- Kunstlers.i==

The Police Commissioner. has asked .me to Teply -
to your letter of ‘January. 19, 1978+

I have reviewed your request to.-interview====
Detective Eugene. Roberts:regarding the. murder -of——s=
Malcolm X in 1966, and regret that I cannot be of
assistance. We have discussed the matter with
Detective Roberts, and it is presently his position
that he .does not wish -to.-be:interviewed.~=If you
need:to hear this personally-from him, kKindly let

and- Detective-:Roberts will-be ‘asked to writ

Your “request-for access-to.our files. gbout=
Malcolm X, under:the - Freedom of.:Information Act,
has been” referred -to-the: Public-Inquiry and Request‘
Section of the Police Department for their attention.

Deputy Commissioner
Legal Matters

EXHIBIT A




416 W. 134 ST
— ALEXANDER, GLXDSTONKT " 23g y,’ 44 ST
~ ANDERSON,RODERT- 17°XRESS AVE. ,NEY RDCHKLLE.
AMINED ZEDRINI=-7272n - 416 w, 13478y
BROWN,LORRATNE=
BAILEY WILLIAM- - . 225 W. 137 ST
BOUTELL,PAUL- - 1091 PROSPECT AVE.,BX
3 “150 W.21's7
550 z:AuL.erLL AVE. A
T BOULLOPS|, JACKIE- "% 1770 BROADHAY,
BATCHELORVAROARETZZ:7T61 W™ 140 57349
—5IGGANS, JONNIE IAY: % 5 =
— BADGER;,SUSY= 7+ - 360 E.17:5307 =T,
~— BLAOKWELL, CHARLES - =
— DURNS , CARNEY-*~ = - 112-50  NeRTHERN BLvD: Wn
BALLEAU; JAVES-: == 41-15 20 ST, X
LROWN , ARTHA= R T
BLANOHETTE  GWEN-=
CATHCART] LINKOO D=
CRUX,CATHERINE<Z
COUPER, RALPH
- DAVIS,JASPER-." ...
DAVIS ,CIARLES- LG43 70 E,108 ST, 47, —
& DEPINA ;- EDIARD-"
~— DAVIS,JOUN- 746 ST. NIOKOLAS AVE,
DLBERRY, CLIFTON- 116 UNIVERSITY XXX.PLACE.
EDWARDS ,ROLERT- - 1263 GRANT AVE.. '~ .
FAISON, HARRY=555F - - 37067 AVALOX ST,PUILA, PAL-E -

- ——FRANCIS ,RUELEK- —. - B71 E. 179 5T..= - - I S a? Ez—(i o
4 B e HiB| f
FHUNTZ ,QUENTUER- ° - 210 E, 38 8T, N Y si Regs CT:
— CRIMES, FRANKLIN- . . 70 W, 116 ST, .

—4REY ,NURIEL= ™57 - 706 RIVLRSIDE DR.J & iahving
v OFFICIAL- SIEHD\.

_CHANT EARL- - 3657 BROAIWAY, -




e e

GOOBMAN,BENJAMIE=
GETHERS ,ELIZADETE-
_— GREY,JOHN- "= I~
HAOOIXS ,RODERT SR.-
HARRIS WILLIAN-
HUFF ,HATTIE-
THASSON, ABDULLAR= -~
HOLMES ,CARL-
HASSOUN, AEMED -SHEIX.
s JACKSON,SHARON-"
JEFFERSON, OLLIE-
JENNINGS,AL!
—JOHLY, (lu««u’z‘ 7/(
— JONES ,FREPSRICK~
—— KOCETYAMA, MARY= =
——KOCHIY)
\/'/-'E.LQL’D,KNA);D—
 LARSON, LEONARDS"
LEAKS ,SYLVESTE
A 1711E  BETTY-
MITCHKLL,::ARAE=
__— VIORRIS GRARLS:

#

¥ICHEAUX,LOUIS-
e ’

MOORE, CligBL,

MOORE, LOUISE-
MILLS ,LAURA-
ODOX , RALPY-
PARKER, #TLLIAN=
PKICE,BENJ.~
PRICE, HELEN-
* PEMFAGH ,ALEX.-
Z— PORTER,, IBRAN-
PEASKETT, AuGELA~
P¥IFFER,5EORGE-

_/,. PLATT,DAVIS-

4268

" PACE 4 2.

1022 LONGFELLUW AVE. ,BX.

166-26 HARLEM RIVER DNIVE.

2300 6 TH AVE. - 7.

1370 ST.NICHOLAS AVE.

614 OAK TREE PLACE.

602 COURTLAND AVE.. >

1020 TRINITY AVE. ,BX.%- =¥

1365 STR AVE. ° -

HOTEL THERESA, i

401 E.£102 ST."

841 BiCK ST.,BX.;

760 E. 166 ST.
540 W. 169 ST.
545 W."126°ST.™

i{f B

“hole

Jamc ok e R ave

557 W, 148 ST
410 W.2110/8T.20 'S
HOTBL THERESA; =77%
843 TIFTANY ST.,BX.
1851 3RD AVE." "7
EEEXXO(ERXIXEXERYX

220 W. 145 ST.

61 CLINTON AVE., NEW ROCHELLE,
620 COURTLAND AVE.

225 W. 123 ST.

2305 SOTH AVE. ,ASTORIA.
131-33 W. 143 ST,

225 W, 110 ST,
516 E. 11 ST.
291 PATCHEW AVE.,BKLYN.

240 E. 24 ST,




RYAN, JESSE-.- - 366 W. 118 ST.:

n n

RYAN, JOAN- 5
) .
RODBRTS, GENE: 3985 BARNES FL., e .7 _044.' =/ £cC.
)
" "
€1 CLINTON AVE.,N:W.ROCHELLE

n " " =

ROAE,JINNY~

_—SAVAGE ,LANGSTON 4 140 W.0 144 ST

——SCOTT,STANLEY: 1220 CROES AVE.,BX
—— SEALEY,SIDHEY: 995 UNIOW AVE. ;BX:=
1085 BEACH AVE.,BX.:
217 BAINGIIDGE ST.,BRLYN.
137 ©8 ST.,HKLYN,
SHIFFLET,LYNNE-. . 706 RIVERSIDH DR:-
SIMPSON,GENE= == = 466 W.- 146 ST.°
SKINNER,THOMAS- 880 BOYNTON AVE.,EX.
SNEED, LEGIARD== == 226 W.137 ST.37 =
o~ S5 Y LIFTON= == 1695 YADISU':LAVE:
SUEFTERLUN DL ALD: = 2504 TIHOAVE.D
__ STBHARD,ROBERT=. 1 FRUSPuCT 4
| S EoAZL, JARES, JIUTEL THERESA
- TAYLOR, ABRAIAMZ:™ 97-06 NORTHERN BLVD:
TICHY,” ALERAT. ©. 3624 AVE P,=BILYN.
A TINBEKLAKE , -RONALD ;. 1764 B:DFORD.AVE. BKLYNa-
S THOEAS ;. CARY - 233 W. 121 Sto (presntly QURSNS_TOKBS)
WASII1:G'ON, DONALD 60 W. 69th St
NAShIKGTOK, JOSLPH USEF 393 DURUNT AVE. DRLYN.
———wATEN, FLOKENCE _ % 221 RALPH AVE. BKLYNe:- <o
WELLS, RAFAEL - —.° 354 B. 102nd. St. .
WELLS, SAMUELZ - "1 $2 W. 118th ST..
WHEELIR, THOKAL - 242 E. 128th ST. -
Wil ITKORE, IBORY - 305 W,.113th 8T ___ .
— WHITAEY ;,-GEORGLE 1114 MOKHIS aVE." (er) 223 W.-121°ST)

_—AILLIAMS, FRED,




WALLACE, THUiAS =
EENTLsY , LiEO/AKD=

CLLUW UL ESTER=

43N0

7 4.

115 W. 118 St.

3755 ITANCADTER AVE. ,PHILA.
3450 llO"l‘H Sl

215 W. 148 ST,

KLMIRA. .=

129-39 107 ST.

60-b2 119 ST =7 -

177-48 120 YH-aVk.

90 £DGRCOMB AVE.
6€6 RIVERSIDE DRIVE.

666 RIVERSIDE DRIVE.

4B-41 BROADWAY ; ASTORIA. ===

" -




CERTIFICATE. OF SERVICE

CERIIF LA L. L2 O =

This is to certify that, on the 11th day of Februar

‘1978, the undersigned served the within affidavit upon the Distric

Attorney, New York County, by mailing same in a prepaid first clas

ienvelope addressed to said District Attorney at the address desig-|
}‘inated by him for. the-receipt of:papers.

Dated: New York, N.Y. 7
February 11, 1978




ME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
OUNTY OF NEW YORK : PART 35

{PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

i -v- &

h Ind. No. 871/65 =
AD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X = ¥ 't :

) and KHALTL ISLAM (THOMAS ;

15X JOHNSON), .~

STATE OF NEW- YORK =) %1 75

COUNTY OF. NEW YORK) ,,,.

WILLIAM M.- KUNSTLER, being duly sworn, deposes and says:

1. Following the hearing before this Court on' Fenruary 15,

1978, I visited Thomas Hagan at the Eastern Correctional Facility,
Nap anoyh N.¥. on February 22, 1978, and informed him of. the Court

i
i
statement that a more specific affidavit’ was required from him in

He

connection: ‘with the motion for a’new.trial pending before:dt.
bgreed—-to furnish one and  said that He would give it/ to Emam Nurid|
;in Faiz; a World Community of Islam Minister and an official chap
aain of the New York State Departmentvof'Correctional Services upq
the latter's mext visit which was scheduled for Saturday, -February
25, 1978. ]

2. On Saturday, February 25, 1978, Mr. Hagan called me at
my,hdme in New York, N.Y. and informed me that he had just signed
the affidavit in question-and that Chaplain Faiz had witnessed it
In view of the shortage of notaries at Eastern Correctional Facil
II asked Chaplain Faiz to read the affidavit’ to me aﬁd then to put
r. Hagan on the line, Mr. Hagan,whose voice I recognized from m

hy prior conversations with him, acknowledged that it was his 2
s : B e N
N




davit and swore to the contents thereof.

'Joinal document was brought to me by Chaplain Fa

|
le

l
|
|
|
‘.

Accordingly, when the or—
iz on February 27,

1978 I notarized it as of the date that Mr. Hagan spoke to me and

gwore to the contents thereof.

3. In view of the fact that names and other identifying |
data are included in the affidavit, Mr. Hagan insisted that its con
|

ten*s not be made public other than to the Court and, if necessary,
\

ithe District _Attorney.= He felt-that 1t might be wvery dangerous : fa
the individuals named and described in the cocunent =P ethe dnfor-
mation ‘therein were publicized. -“Accordinglys; I a;sured him’that”J
I would adhere to-his wishes and so-informed this-Courtin-a-tele=
phone conversation on Monday, Fegruary 27,1978

4. In view of the above, I am furnishing the original af-
fidavit to this Court znd sending one copy by messenger.to Allen_
Alpert, the Assistant :District Attorney.in charge_-of this matter-
for the People.:.’If is-my :express understanding that ‘the contents -
of the attached affidavit will be kept 'confidential by--all concer-

ned in view of the dangers inherent in public disclosure of its

contents.

5. I also informed the Court that I would move to clear
the courtroom of both public and press in the event of an evidenti

ary hearing during Mr. Hagan's testimony as the same dangeré would

Lt L,

OO oty - i (i e ST
WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER-

be present thereat.

Sworn to before me this

28th day of February, 1978
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

COUNTY OF NEW YORK : PART 35

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

-v- Ind. No. 871/65
UHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUT-

LER) and KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X)

JOHNSON, ;

Defendants.

STATE -OF NEW YORK ) ~——
e8.¢

OUNTY OF NEW YORK)

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER, being duly sworn, deposes and says:
1. I am submitting this affidavit in support of defendant]

application for an evidentiary hearing in connection with their as—\

lsertion that the murder of Malcolm X was procured, instigated or ar

ranged by the Federal Bureau of Investigation and/or the New York
\Jity‘éorl}rce Departme t’
L 2. During oral argument before this Court in January,
defense counsel was requested to submit any information they may
ave gained from an examination of those documents which the Federa
Bureau of Investigation would permit them to see. This affidavit 1
in partial response to that request. ;
3. Attached hereto, in its entirety, is a memorandum froj
the Special Agent in Charge of the Chicago Division to the Director
dated January 22, 1969, concerning the Nation of Islam. The Court'
httention is called to the first page in which the addressor states
that one technique employed against the Nation of Islam was the dev|
elopment of "factional disputes . . . the most noteable being MALCO
= .

LITTPELIECELAT.
I
~)




4. The Final Report of the Select Committee to Study
Governmental Operations With Respect to Intelligence Activities,
United States Senate, 94th Congress, 24 Session, popularly referred:|

to as the Church Committee, Book III thereof, is replete with doe-

umcntanoq of the concerted e!‘fort of the FBI to promote violence 1
' ‘

b’etween what it classified as Black extremist groups, among which it]
1
ncluded the Nation of Islam. See eg. pp. 189-198, Book III, supra.

.;cccrdin” to the Church Committee Report, "ppproximately 28% of the
Bureau s COINTELPRO efforts" were expended in this area. Ibid. at 4o

I

In many instances, the Bureau took full credit for causing violence

among such groups. Ibid. at pp. 42-3.
|

5. It does not take a great deal of imagination to _.come t

he conclusion that the publicized rift between Elijah Muahmmad and
|
Malcolm X was jdeal for the promotion of violence between members

Il

Of the Nation of Islam and Malcolm's Organization of. Afro-American

Unluy . The existence of COINTELPRO as an official program of the
FBI and the circumstances of the feud between Malcolm X and Elijah
lE’lluhammad was ripe with possibilities for the encouragement of viol-
1e:nce between their two organizations and what could have been. more
I:)terfect for this purpose than the procuring of the murder of the

ﬁxlost accessible target, namely Malcolm X.

6. This explains the total lack of police protection at

'he Audubon Ballroom on February 21, 1965, one week after the bombin
of Malcolm's home in Queens, the stationing of a police officer inv

he emergency room of an adjoining hospital before the shooting 'with
alkie talkie contact with two officers hidden from public view at §

he Ballroom, the contact of certain eyewitnesses with the FBI and




.

their nonavailability as witnesses at the trial, the disappearance
of one murder weapon and the turning over of another, after it had
been broken down, to FBI agents.

i
| 7. There is at least enough here to call for an eviden- |

tia:-y hearing. It is submitted that District Judge John E'}rica had!
2 |
1ess at his disposal in the way of incriminating material than does

‘ % |

\‘th_s Court. If the truth is ever to be determined, it remains for

I
L
|

rageous judges, when confronted with strong possibilities to grar

hearings necessary to develep it. Otherwise the dark areas of ‘
|
|

among others, will be hidden forever, with the resultant dangcv

ou
he
ur society, so graphically illustrated in the Church Committee Re-
rt
o our institutions and the lives and welfare of many of our citi- i

|zens. '

I
E
| |
|

i‘ WHEREFORE, defendants reiterate their request for an

i

evlde'n:iary hearing on all aspects of their motion, so that this i
\Court will be able to make an intelligent disposition of this mat-

&:EI‘
il

i /
7 i

Mool . 7 el
WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER
Sworn to before me this 3rd

day of April, 1978

7
NPTARY PU. Y
JOMN L. WASHINGTOR!
TR

rm_.u o Epires March 30, w77

York

_~_/ See United States V. Liddy et als., D.D.C. (1972)

O,




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

y of the within affidavit was

_ This is to certify that a cop

New York County, 155 Leonard !

forwarded to the District Attorney,.

treet, New York, N.Y. 10013, this date by prepaid £irst class

United States Mail.
/émm L
TAN M. KUNSTLER

Dated: New York, N.Y.
April 3, 1978
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UNITED STATE{ OVERNMENT

Memorandum

“"DIRECTOR, FBI' (100-4480C6) 3 1/22/694

SUBJECT:

WNC o ld\ (R3M) : . i
! %r;{idj B 5 At
tt

i

Zf1CAGO (157-2209) (P)

C uNTFRIHTELLIGENCE PROGRAM
ELACK RATIONALIST - HATE GROUFS
RACIAL INTELLIGENCE

(NATION OF ISLAXN)

Reurlet, 1/7/69; Chicago letters 12/24/68 and
1/14/69. W i
ReBulet has been +horoughly, studied and discussed—
by the SAC, the ‘Supervisor, and Agents familiar with facets
of the NOI which might indicate -trends and possible future
direction of the organization. - The Burezu's concern 418 most:s =
understandable and suggestions appreciated..

Over the years considerable thought bas been given,
and action taken with Bureau approval, relating to methods
through which the NOI could be discredited in the eyes of 3
the general black populace or through which factionalism apong
the leadership could be crea Serious consideration has . .~
also been given towards deve cans of changing
HOI philosophy to one whereby the members could be developed :
into useful citizens and the organization developed into OR® |
enphasizing religion - the brotherhood of mankind = and Gl
self improvement. Factional disputes have been developed -
the most noteable being MALCOL X LITTLE.: Prominent black
personages have publicly and nationally. spoken out against
the group - U.S. District Court Judge JAMES BENTON PARSONS
being one example. The media of the press bas played down
the NOI. This appears to be a most effective tool as
individuals such as BUHAMMAD assuredly seek: any and all
publicity be it .good or bad; however, if the press is utilized
it would appear it should not concentrate on such aspects
as the alleged strength of the NOI, immoral activities of
the leadership, misuse of funds by these officials, etc.

It is the opinion of this office that such exposure is

ineffective, possibly creates interest and maybb~ envy

armong the lesser educated black man causing them out ol

curiosity to attend meetings and mayber join, and encourage

the -opportunist to seek personal gain - physical or

monctary - through nlignment with “the group. ‘At any rat .

it is felt such publicity in the case of the NOI is ngt overlés

ciffective. - WA B, é')/j &
¥ PUEPE

{§§:bab uy U.S. Savings Bonds Regularly on the Payroll Savings Plan
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S As the Bureau is aware the NOI several years
ago organized progressive Land Developors, Ipc., and pore
recently United Dynamics Corporation, both incorporated

in the State of J11inois. Both have well known ROI
officials as officers — ELIJAH MUHAMMAD is not shown as
involved in either. The proiessed purpose of these groups
is economic. in nature and glves no appearance of being - =
religious in nature., - S

Activity by these groups .was most limited untik.:
the past year to year and one half ago. Since that time
the NOI las invested heavily in business properties in =
the Chicago area and in land im Michigan and Georgia. It =
was noted publicity regarding formation of these E%O e
corporations by the NOI voms limited throughout the United
States - only two articles have appeared and both dealt
briefly with Progressive Land pevelopors, Inc. buying land
‘in Michigan. Both articles were published in cities other
than Chicago.

5 “ontacted this office and
voluntcered data to the effect he had been surveying NOI
business ventures and wanted towrite: an article about same
but nceded assistance. Bearing the above facts in mind re
the two corporations, the Bureau was requested to give
permission to furnish{EZ7 S kith pertinent public record
material relating to S5%R1p of these non-religlous
ventures with emphasis on the fact it appeared membership
monies were possibly being misused. The Bureau granted
permission anGg vas given all mssible assistance. At~
this time he 1S WOIKlng on his article and assurcs this
111 advise us of the article and its publication.
ters set forth full details. It is hoped
— that publicity emphasizing NOI non-religious ventures will
cause factionalism among the leaders and discredit them
_ among the black community and the organization's member—
ship.

ELIJAH MUHAMUAD is sole leader of the NOI claimi,‘pg
to have been SO appointed by ALLAH. He further claims to
.be the only divinely appointed leader of all black people
in America., His rgimmick"” in creating an aura of mysticism
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has been proclaiming the black man to be God and the future

ruler of Earth; branding the white man as the pevil whose .

future lies in his destruction by ALLAH through the forces .=
of nature; and & call for s separate state or territory of
their own or equal justice and equal opportunities in the -=
United States if they cannot have separate territory. _

These "gimmicks" would be most attractive to many black

people in the lower economic strata who would want to hear .
the white man condemned and castigated because of their own "=
plEhE ROy collnEes the development of a seemingly large -
following would also attract the opportunist - 2 black man-

. who would profess to believe MUHAMMAD 'S teachings but-is
really out solely for personal gain, .As is apparent;—
MUHAMMAD has created through the above an almost fanatical. !
devotion to him on the part of his:following; however, .
this devotion and subservience is purely voluntary as —=
members are specifically instructed to leave if they cannot..
follow all of the "Laws of Islam". - The turnover is constant
and whilec many have Jeft because of the NOI's demands they
still believe in his tenchings. s

ELLIAH MUHAMEAD, as far as is known, has not==
designated, or even shown a preference for, an heir apparent.
With two exceptions the national Jeadership is composed of ¢
members of his family. A1l are dependent on MUHAMNMAD
and the ‘group for their Yivelihood. -.Over the ycars various -5
members of. the "Royal Family! have been “in the favor of
MUIAMMAD only to fall by the wayside because they dared -
question MURAMAMAD's edicts. . A prime example of this would
be WALLACE MUHAMMAD whO was until about 1964 considered:
most likely -to be the helr apparent and -MUHAMYAD himself -
indicated ALLAH might be comaun jcating with WALLACE. Of =
course, WALLACE subsequently was suspended by his father
because he recfused to belicve W. D. FARD was ALLAn. It
is st1ll belicved WALLACE MUHAMMAD is the only mcmber of
the ‘Royal Family' who cnuld give proper spiritual guidance
to the organization. No one has emcrged as 2 successor to
WALLACE insofar as this sphere of activity is concerned. -

Recent indications are that IERBERT. SULIAIMAD is %
closest to MUHAMMAD. He is self-stated to be MUHAMMAD 'S = 4
personal aide. jle has 4illusions of running the NOI from :
"pehind the scers' when MUHAMMAD passes ©On. - 0

RIS




¥ Convention in Clicago he was wildly acclaimed. It is felt{
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There is no indication NERBERT himself will be able to
guide the flock spiritually nor is there any indication as
to how he plans to accomplish same. Ile is interested only

in such financial gain as the membership will make available

to him. ‘

In our opinion ‘therc is no one presently ‘dn the-=
NOIwhn %411 be able to replace MUHANMAD and:-the mystical
spell he 1s able to cast on some members - of the ‘black ==~

race. This must be donc ‘to insure survival of the group.==.

Further, ‘there is no means at present .to =

determine who will.succeed WUHAMMAD. - Past experience has o

shown he does not particularly trust any of his sons or
dauvghters and they could be in favor one day but completely
in disfavor the next. RERBERT }MUNAMYAD is as susceptible
to 'thislas/ anyd:oirs

It appears-the KOI is headed on a collision &
course for .a -factiondl split after :the death of MUHAMMAD,. “1F

The :power struggle could well develop among ‘members of oI

the:'"Royal Family" .and-could well involve ‘somec ©0f the more=i-

prominent NOI ministers:-who:could well -align ‘themselves 23
with 2 certain member -of the-"Royal Family"’or could:
entertain illusions of “ruling” a segment of the NOI.
It is not beyond the realm.of possibility that anyone of I
MUHIAMMAD's more prominent ministers could make a-power-=
play on MUHAMMAD's death, -At present, however, MUDAMMAD -
seemingly has all of them totally subservient to him, ~i-

As mentioned earlier, the spiritual aspeccts of
the NOT must be maintained to keep the group going. It
is reccalled that when MALCOLM X LITTLE defected and later
was murdered, many dissenting NOI members sought out
WALLACE MUHAMMAD for spiritual leadership. Vhen WALLACE
MUHAMMAD returned to his fathr on another occasion -and was
preSented to NOI members gathered at an Annual Muslim o
WALLACE MUHAMMAD 1s still sarmly thought of by his father
as he is the only son.or daughter :who.is not monetarily .’
motivated, It is knoun MUIAMMAD still asks about WALLACE.

/
S

*
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It is further koown WALLACE is adament in his belief W. D.

FARD is not ALLAH. WALLACE is acknowledged clandestinely by -
wembers of the 'Royal Family" and i8 friendly with many ol
them., He is thought to be held in esteen by NOI mewmbers despite
his suspension, It is not beyond expectations that he could

be sought out for support in a power play by a member or
pembers of the "Royal Family®” of by various NOI ministers to be
a figurehead or the leader.-:His beliefs are the brotherhood -
of mankind and self- improvement with no hate for ‘other 'men,-=o_

WALLACE NUHAMMAD -is well aware of this and maintains
his contacts,’ i i

The above is pure speculation but factual data cap .
oply be obtained as time passes and events occur. -At this™ ‘-
time proper courses of action can be planned and implemented.

ReBulet refers to legal action against the NOI
on the death of its leader and asks such questions a8 .=
1) Does MUHAMMAD have a will? 2) Is the .NOI incorporated?-:=
3) In whose name and where are NOI bank accounts?_ 4) In ~
whose name are NOI assets such as mosque. buildings,
- MUHAMMAD.'S home,-etc.?..-~

There is no information availableas to whetber ==
or not ELIJAH MUHAMMAD bhas a will. This would be information-
- available only to WUHAMMAD and, possibly, -an attorney.

MUHAMMAD's Temple No. 2 of the Holy Tcmples of
Islam is shown as being 2n I1linois corporation at thel> =
Cook County Recorder's Office, Chicago; however, tbere is
no evidence of same on file with the Secretary of State,
Corporate Section, Springfield, Illinois. i,
Bank accounts maintained by MUHAMMAD's Temple No. 2
in Chicago are in a state of complete flux at present.
ccounts both savings and checking have been maintained for
everal years in the name of MUHAMMAD'S Temple No. 2 at the
outh .East -National ‘Bank:(all baving balances of under
k 1,000.00); at Continental Illinois Kational Pank and Tru3
Company of Chicago (all now closed); at the American National
Bank and Trust Company of Chicago (unavailable due to bank
policy). ELIJAH MUHAMMAD was not shown as being authorized
to draw on any of the above accounts, Rather f&ose

" 5 =
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authorized to drawn included officers aof the Temple - any 2 i}
of 4. Only one bank account was located for ELIJAH MUHA M¥AD,
It was a savings account contining less than $5,000.00 and was
in the name of ELIJAH and CLARA (his wife) HUHAMMAD,

NOI properties have been closely followed by this
office insofar as title holderj evaluation, etc., are concerned.
NUHANMAD's Temple No. 2, including the University of Islam
No, 2; i3 in the nare of MUHAMMAD's Temple No, 2; various
business ventures purchased by the NOI are in the name of
progressive Land Developors, -Inc:,-or United Dynamics “==
Corporation (both described above) as are land purchases ‘o Z.
Michigan and Georgia, -So far as can be determined NOI
properties are in one:of the above names. The exception to =
this are MUHAMMAD's residence at 4847 South Woodlawn; his residence
at 2118 East Violet:Drive, _Phoenix, ‘Arizona; and 2 residence. —
at 1122 Staples Street, N.E., washington, D.C., which are in :
the pame of ELIJAH and/or CLARA MUHAMMAD at present. - 2

4 Chicago's experience insofar as MUBAMMAD's lcgal
advice is concerned dates back to 1959 at which time ELIJAH
MUBAMMAD on legal advice tempered bis:teachings against the ° =
white man and the government, both 8ynonymou
to avoid prcsecution. At that time he demphasized religious
aspects in the NOI and commenced empbasizing economic benefits =
to be derived by the black man who_joined the organizationziu
It appears, based on ¥OI ‘land and business ventures in the -
past two years, MUHAMMAD ‘is implementing monies accrued over the
froo the membership and {rom appreciation from properties
sold. His success or failure in these business and farming

- yventures remains to be determined 2s they have only been in

e,

effect for a year or S80.

Over the years MUIAMMAD's legal involvements
have been closely followed. He has been represcnted by
pumerous attorneys and evidently secks out advice on new
endeavors. IRS has reviewed the KOI and some of its officials

“but resvlts were negative. Income Tax Returns filed by such

$dividuals as HNERBERT MUHAMMAD, who made substantial money

5 panager of CASSIUS CLAY, were revicwed and no discrepancies-
ere noted, It was noted attorneys executed these rxturns, i
rhaps the most significant factor is recognition of the H ¢

s a religion by USDC and. subsequent court, both Federal a
tate, approval for NOI services in Federal and State prisons.

Chicago has no source in Probate Court, Cook County,
Chicago, and has not corsidered the development of same due

LT

e
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to the many scandilous 2llegations relating to political
appointees and their associates in this area. It is not
deemed advisable to approach such a person 2s the Bureau
would be in an extremely embarrassing position if there were
the slightest leak that the Bureau was involved in probate
of any estate.
Chicago, 2s the Bureau is aware, has alwnye heen
on the alert for methods by which the NOI could be directed =7
or disrupted. As is evidenced by the present cooperation with -
*>=7] this policy contipues, -

Chicago continues its contacts with its sources
whose identities are known to the Bureau and feels these
sources will be of possible extreme value at the time of the
demise of MUHAMMAD, At this time appropriate recommendation3®

will be made,




SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK i1 PART 35

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 3

-against- i
3 Ind. No. 871/65

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUT-
LER) and KEALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X
JOENSON)  _ 3

Defendants.-""-. 8

STATE OF NEW YORK
- 88.1
COUNTY OF NEW YORK)

WILLIAM M, KONSTLER,.being duly sworn, deposes and says|

1. Attached hereto are documents recentli' recelved by

me from the Pederal Bureau of Investigation:--I have numbered the
consecutively for the purpose of bringing certain matter contained
therein to the Court's attention.

2, Many of these documents relate to other suspects in
this case, while some giva descriptions or designations that confo
to those contained in. the most recent affidavit of Thomas Hagan.

.In this connection,’ the Court’s at 4on 18 x tfully. called
to the £21lowing pages thereofs } 3
g - 7.8, 9,19,20, 21,722, 23,727, 28,30, 32,2

35, 38, 39, 490, 41, 43, -44, 47, 48,-50, 51 =7 - o

3. Much of the information contaimed in the above mat-
erial was, by its terms, was fusnished to the Wew York City Police|
Department.

e e acie smze zo-oo::d.-Moreover, the man referred to on Page 40 is undoubte
1y Reuben Francis, ths eyewitness who turned himself into the FBI
during the trial and was never revealed to the defense as being.

) i available to testify although it was he who had shot Hagan. Mr.

"% 5 _ .. -.Francis is. in counsel's-opinion,-the Malcolm X bodyguard refer-

i red to on Page 7, beginning at 10 lines from the bottom, who, at
both Page 7 and 40, is described as being seen with a large amoun
of money on the day after Malcolm's assassination.




|

e T

# = e |
furnisheu a 116t of all persons known to have arfil-
1ated with the MMI at that time. is 11st 4ncluded 7
S, which names were obtainead f& Ve =

= Ve

Wi s Greed advised that'a large =+t
nurber of MMI members were former- NOI members. in the Xow York
City area who ¢hosé to follow MALCOIM X" = .  ...-. %

i-all~.—
= That.at that-timé were affiliated ™"
The 1ist was cbtained from G5 s
The 1ist ‘included 132 names}

TEST recordsgrtoy oy Tory R

s The exact membership of the MMI 15 unknown 3
\Lmown that a large number of NOT members, possibly 1n €xcess
\of cne hundr

\ ed, -1eft the NOI in New York City, ‘ostensibly to i
Joinwith MALCOIM X and the MMI, . howéver, - probably :due to th e
inactivity of the MMI-because of MALCOIM's absence,” very few
nembers ‘actively-participated in MMI affairs: = At the “three.=== -
Islamic religicus meetings,” which ‘are -held veekly, ‘the average
attendance-4s only twelve ‘to fourteen persons

£ = 52 PR ERETE gegrrit < =

: ¥, On September 17, 1954, ffimadmade availablé an
MiI business card, which read as follows: R
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1n his hand while Malcolm X was on the stage speaking.

said Malcolm X suddeply. called out "Hold i1t" and afteri==
= 47 ¥dropped to.the floor and did no

actually see Malcolm X shot, but stehed: before: they =3

dropped to the floor,. they saw Hayer with a gun in his hand

pointing it towards Malcolm X. The next thing they saw .=~

ves Eayer trying to run out of t al om_with & gun in his

hand,  According to; T Ay as Hayer ran oub

one of.Malcolm!s group. snot thre

automatic pistol.. Hayer did not have the p:

when hc vas arrested outside the Ballroom

SR ST
“sitting in TONT. oW T the AUGUDON
the foot during the shooting vhich Kalcolm X wes
He also stated that iz b sg_hit during
oting spree in the Ba oom and bot!
A were trealed at Columbia Presbyterian Hospital,

- 1ater advised thab: s
the Police found ®.12 gauge sawed off double-barrel} shotgun

- manufactured by J.C. Higgins, model-1017, also bearing the -

number 51C0.. The Police advised, upon _exammation,'tha_b the -

—  ghotgun™had been fired and left at:the scenee

5 ﬁviseu Ynat Hayel

being detained in the prison 274 at Bellevue Hospital

under guard., He stated that Hayer had one bullet in him
*ymich entered his left thigh and shattered the thigh -bone

He stated the hospital plans to put Hayer's left leg in

raction and that the bullet vwould stay in the leg for

about two weeks until such time as the bone vould be healed

. enough to permit an operation. ECOras:: NYL

ar7 21, 1965, & TR
e office O
New York City and!.
d-to kill Malcolm EK./




“lend asked that Bureau
Zimijadaress as soon as possibles
3aen contacted the same date by Agents of the FBI,"
{= *jwab 4in the back of the fudubon Ballroom, the sane :
Gate, to hear Malcolm X speak.' HE Stated that hel
menber of the OAAU.- HeTsaldisaleolm X was Jus
2nd bezan to speek when some peopleibegan to scream
scmewhere about eight rows from the front of the % %
puditorium. XeZSaid people in that "area began to move &w
O Falcolm ¥ puf Gp his hands ms_though to quiet:thew
/neonle down and_w heard to say "Keep your seatg.'
shots rang out, but
was-doing the shoot™
shots were fired S the personsshooting -
headed for the exit.  SOie TL people in e audience tried
to stop them by throwing chairs at them or in their way.::
At this time, two of Malcolm X's men werc shooting at the .
sailants as they were trying to leave the Ballroom. S5t
Sy g s81d .= two men involved in the shooting passed
Syioav™ds the other two men involved were running towards
““the exit; one turned to fire back at Malcolm X's B
I As this man then turned to run through the exit,
threw a "body block" into hinm Ynocking him dovn the
stairs, at which time, this person dropped.a W45 caliber pistold
i A picked up the gun-and attempted to
T ha knocked down as he was running down the =
s, but the gun Sammed and he ran out of the building
= = .n-\l 821d he checked the gun and noticed that three
2R, st111 4n the clip.’ & TP o then turned °.%
over to Special Agents of the FBL a &5 caliber automatic
pistol, serial number 335055 , -containing. & clip with”
three rounds of ammunition. - TR

£ 10:15 p.m, . Febru

G R e < 2
oillce of the ?BI, at wnich time, they were 1

t1 t “whi
2 D4 E 8;:5 »: cl} ?aa? obt:.aine

e




. X = stated that Hayer, ¥
arrested £ distely aitlers shooting Malcolm X, has been
. charged with homicide and thati’: member

of Malcolm X's group, W2t chargea wWiv
Cand! possession of a.'deadlygmapon. L
3 Rt e

also t the Police
S5 a witness ¥no 1denbified€: 3 as_the P
ssailents of 1alcolm X. neh § =
ir=d 8 shot which sbruck=
1""i"‘;;,is suspected of bz 1ng
er pistol, yhic e
Police Department .«
timated that Ui to four pers
2 of Falcolm Xe i

X e further advised that an aubopsy
perforzed on Malcolm X e lected that he had ten bullet
. Wounds in-his chest, thigh and ankle plus - four buslet -
creases 4n the chest and thigh. -The autopsy located one
‘nine pillimeter 'slug and one .45 caliber slug, and several
shotgun pellets 4n the body of-Kalcolm X =
[y i A
i " bz < seid that when the ‘Police
. Deparbment examined he- Audubon- Ballroom after the,shootins,
they found a sawed off double-barre =
green suit coat. - In the suit coab
for a Yale lock, & package of camel cig
rlass case bearing the optometrist name
REEE oritained two S
N express sNellB, single O buckshot shells an
were indications that the gun was recently fired.

32 ol % a1s0 stated that in the Ballroom
" was found tnree .45 caliber ‘shells and slugs, six nine_
millineter: shells and two slugs,and three .32 caliber
10 pieces of lead, preswiably’ fired from the shotgun
T , 3




Malcolm K. Little

a0 The FBI Identification

1965, identified prints of the rson arrested in the
shooting of Malcolm X a8 Talmageifiayer, ¥ho U until then, was .
known to the Police Departmen only as ThomxSsH .

I¢entification records
is a male, Negro, born

Jergey, last Tnown residing &
Al

pivision, on February 22,

reflect that Hayer, FBL
March 16, 1942, at Hacke
t 347 Marshall Stree

= 4

arrived at the

Ay

Audubon Ballroom, Febru Sz
white 1965 Cadillac, HMalcolm x was surrounded by his bodyguards
and was then esccrted into the front corridor of the ..=@= .o
Audubon Ballrocm and then to ths stage. When Malcolm X began

ary 21, 1965, in 2

4o speak, 8 disturbance occurred between two men. Up in the fron!
near the stage, Malcolm X's bodyguards started to sove towards the
two men causing a disturbance when Malcolm X said fold it.® ,

wWithout hesitation, two men occupying the front seats, left
side, middle aisle, 1ooking towards the stage, got into a ==
~crouched position and fired several shobs 4n the direction of

Malcolm X. The fire

into the chest of Halc
nocked dovn by a sudd
crouched position, the
the back of thelell, 8

the floor. It is believed that approximately 20 shots in all

were Tired during the

uspitting” from the guns crashed”
olm X and he fell backwards as if
en poverful forcee 8t11l 4in tha ..
gunmen’ hastyly moved toward the exit in
tepping over persons who were laying on

shooting.

R

L aunday &2

““"Kc\}igvg_ a photograpﬁ of Talmage Hayer ana iden’ ed
of the persons who shot and killed Malcolm X on Febru
1965, at the Audubon Ballroom. ke X :

SRR AN

fhat date Hayer

T A A Yo R
Y 1s rfingerprints were found on ¢
.45 caliber pistol that Fo

AT G B

was picked up bygsz




o5 Gl
.}Cle"‘ from\,ol TSR Nino was
and said "Get your }‘&ﬁds out of my pocket®. in
Just before r‘a"colm X s ¥killed,
~Jcannot recognize &I
z2pns a& bejng in tne Audubon ballr

on re:/:m‘ary 21, 190

On March B, 1965, G=FEm
28 of this date, Fa,ez‘, Butler ana Jof {501
fo. the ¥illing of ! ﬂcolm X, Pave refus a} to fur-nish eny.
snformation ot her t‘m weir naoe and a3es

I Tt York
on the same date,  According to 3
<istated that he saw Heyer. shoot KATCOLM A &
ocs;‘fﬂ 2% Sutler and Johnson in And ubon Rallroom-the -
day TMalcolm X was killed, Faw Johnson”
run out the side exit after U

stated that ‘Johnson,uhen ar**es.,ed
e brualy A i
1965. 6= = 5
the s‘:oo\,ﬁﬁg, ,n> pf"ﬁ‘ca
Malcolm X and gave it €
picked up a Gernan lug er pmu
=rson to hold until the Police arrived. s
=7 2 stated that the German Luger:
was never :urnﬁ:\ over Police Dopar\;ment and this gud
could probably acceunt 3 ter slug
e
G,




in conaucting interviews of persons,
Lers Wao were present in the Audubon ~-7%
t, seem to have the same clear
a Rallroom when palcolm X was .
s Lol

fi _;,_j;___tb_e__floor end
T ostated the

cut” syory
shot a]nd when th
never Zob ?Jlock sEi the 25
artment -1esrned. thatl %
St

TRt Tne rial in
S M4I end the CARU

i S CTae ey henbe T
%o cooperate with the Police peperirent put only say that
¢hey fell on the f£loor when the sheoting started and cannot

- idenbify the,person 0 shot palcoln X. /}J U://.l- KOS Ed Tl

Tiiad 1D Teference Lo
x4 svaved that information
_, aipo,yas one of Malcolm X's é
Was Bnot,/ﬁﬁg ‘peen scen in the Earlen
hundred doller suits”" end

‘bodyguards the day he
death of

ngressed to 311" "wearing one
hundred dollar bills" since the
said that

i a also stated that on parch 10, 1965

- New York County Grend Jury hand ed down . firs urder
4ndictments in the ¥illing of Kalcolm X on February 21, 1965,
ageinst Talmege Hayer, Norman 3% Butler and Thomas 15X Johns




LA kb

=i Investi-

Snnat R ;
=tlon of the ..urdu:‘ of Malcolm X Littles  Little was shot and
rcllled on 2/21/G5 as he was about to address a mecting of t“'-
Crganization of Afro-fmerfcan Ua ity ,’ .x‘ﬂcn group h. he

confuence
tiga 101;0% this

s
3 is -‘\tt(fﬂptlnv to [ul;y identify these individuals.
two individuals vere made”
/Lvallable to the WYCPD. & expressed Seep apprecin

forithis assistanca

= s currently under Investigation “and

s

No active "InvestigatlontT

teen conducted pegardinﬂ’
Yoen {entifled a3 a member of the Nation Of e (NOI) but

has not occupied any leadership position which would warrant
an active { veqt[gation. Our lvc'- York Office has since dv!scd
that the has elininated (&= ”\ns & suspect, i’




tha above, our I‘c‘mr;c Offlce ?m., advls cd
e been Ln Faterson, Yew JCLS(,I.
d[\Lo ’s _\-crs“d' - the associstes of Talnage *
Hopo through this ir*lestivation to develop addltlo
a3 ki1lfng of Little, = $

ble pretext by our N
ttended tvo ’rOI mcctirwswL’l Ff-tershn.

ﬁeve fn KOL teach
fatfon with tha ROI, Floto-
dnal_arrested

discus ston was HaTb
fourded by Little in'k arch, 1964, concerning tl
existence of the organizatfon. ncco'—ding to
exccutlve secretary, I, an offfcisl of the NCL \1;7 Ves oot

. fdentiffed, asked that he reburn to the NOI on 2/25/65. i
Zeclined and scoarked that the 121 would continue with "scven
figure heads" taking over the movement until such Tise =3 .
someone appears with 'super hmz\.n a’nllh.y to lead the o'-nni“\
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VHERE maLCOLY X w43 rILLEDJIE

I’IL’J«'IE\_D Ll‘ LESS {2

a0

‘«LLM"(‘“ VAS T DURLIT{\THY z‘i“ﬁ\ug 25 - Drrutrv To INTERVIZ

=i - 108
&AN THE PRESTP-Cr 3 CGESTFD IHAT .Ag RFT




HEN

% e
DEEP; APPRECIATION. TO'N
AT e A G2 ;

PERATION'IN







i

JELTERIAE

LDE

H01 MEET
ALYAYS ASSUMZID
NOW. FEELS #AY.HAVE- BEEN MEMBER OF TEMPLE:

HAY

ﬁHJST THOROUG

MEE

ALSO C3SERVED HAYER AT .._\.Tl t:

jo]
INSIDE ARERA CN ‘J“RTH CAO)\RIDOR

LAST SAW HAYER IN C‘HCA"U"
CAY CONVENTICN.
ELIJAH HUHAMMAD SPO‘(E AS A GUARD E.)Rwuj'{’.

AMMAD IR EVENT oF
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KALCOL¥ ¥AS SHOT AN
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FOEIY FIVE
LLS AND TVO

P1ECES OF L=AD, PRESLMABLY FIR=D,




CROUCHED POSITIO

DE

CTION OF THIS INDIVIDUAL AND ATTEMPTED

| KALCOLY X SAID
L ALK T AN IN

——

‘L Z7T]AS A RESULT OF MALCOLKE-S

N

N AND FIRED SEVERAL ShOTS IN THE

THZSZ MEN VERE DRESSED IN DARK CLOTHES.
i 0

ZED
¥ALCOLY-S BODY GUARDS

QUOTE KOLD IT UNQUO

OUT OF MY POC

FRONT OF

COMXAND

{OLD IT UNQUOTE. ¥ITHOUT HESITATION, TVO MEN, -

HE FRON ATS,,L Bl STDEROFINTDDIENATSIE S
9 i i =

FEET FROY MALCOLM X -GOT INTO A 3,

DIRECTION -







AUTOPSY ON MALCOLM X REFLECTED THAT HE HAD TEN

VOUNDS IN KIS CHEST, THIGH AND ANKLE,.PLUS FOUR ="

CR

RSES IN THE CHEST AND THIGH,. THIS AUTIOPSY +=3

- 4
NINE MILEMETER SLUG, ONE FORTY F:’%VE 9LIBER E

SHOTGUN PELLETS IN HIS BODY. THE POLICE i

AOKICIDE ON KALCOLM X AND HAVE
-~
N
ez A YITH FELONIOUS ASSAULT- AND=—= L 4=

DEADLY YEAPON. FZETTTITSAY. THAT IN

AGAN-S INJURY KE BE HOSPITALIZED

POLICE ALSO SUSPECT SHOT THE THIRTY TWO CALIBER =~ " -
REVOLVER USED IN THESE SHOOTINSS, THOUGH THE GUN HAS NOT

F




2 SSAILANT HAS BEEN DETERMINED,

HE IS' A NEIGRO LALE

TIE
IEETSTHO0 INCHES, T¥0O HUNDAED PDU‘D"ﬂLﬁ,/’<\
EUIL6, DARK COMPLEXION, ¥YEARING GRAY COAT AND ¥
BELIEVED TO 3E ASSAILANT YHO USED SHOTGUN. HaGAN hAS
USED TO FURMNISH ANY INF ATION OTHZR THAN HIS NAME
AND AGE, WHICH 18 TYENTY T%O YEARS. NYD I?DICIVS ON

~—




LCOLY

RUNNING

DO¥N




SACK INSIDE THE BUILDING WHERE !ME THEN PUT THE GUN

+ HIS POCKET AND WAITED UNTIL KALCCLM VAS TAXEN ¥4

AEAY, AND

FAN LEAVINGS THE ZUILDING
s NEECRO,ZTHIRTY YEARS f? (1T SIX FEEz(
D AND SIXTY POUNDS, SHORT BLACK HAIR,

HAD A SMALL MUSTISCHE, SORE DARK

NYO AND PICKED UP THE FORTY FIVE CALIBER
: “.AAND VERE ADVISED THAT THE
0

'VINDIUIDUAL YHO GAVE AGENTS THIS GUN DESIRED

SUTOENTIGY,

CCNFIDERTIAL AT THIS TINE, AND THAT THE FRI YOULD:
AIL UPON THEIS SOURCE TO COCP:HATé AND

HEGROVTCE S S me e







VERY NERVOUS, EXCITASLE
¢
WANN

FCLLO¥S. .

AMERICAN, THIRTY ONE YEARS OF AGE, SIX FEET

SEVENTY FIVE TO ONE EIGHTY
_XNIT BUILD, SHAVED MEAD, THIN NUSTACHE, - - :
‘VLnY DARK COMPLE .‘I’ON, DARX EYES, FALSE TEETH IN FRONT OF
TYPE C4P AND A BLACK CCAT. 3

_ MOUTH, YEA W . :
i 2 s JPVERHEARD B v}-

IN CONVERSATION WITH

GTON, D.C., APPROXINATELY ELEVEN

THIRTY P F E SIXTY FIVE DURING VHICH -

0 CHECK OUT WASHINGTON AND CIA

AFRICAN RELAT

A3 FOUR EIGHT SIX TWO THREE DJRING VHICH CCNVERSATION

ADVIS:DQ” s !THA? TV0 OF MALCOLN-S MEN YERE THEN IN‘CHICAGO

END PASE ELEVEN




CHICASO HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY FUWSHED TO THEM BY TELEPHONE.

/PEESUWASLY»UN]VERSITY OF ISLAY%./

STAY OUT OF THE VAY VHEN BULLETS START FLYING.
TYENTY ONE SIXTY FIVE AT

AT THE AUDUSON BALLROON

J
INVOLVING ¥ALCOLM LXTTLE. N

IN THIS

NG FORYARDED 710 BOSTON,-CLEVELAND,.10S ._.°.

NEWARK AND WASHINGTON FIELD OFFICE.

Spad ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN PERTAINING TO
nr 5




h LLL!CLP‘CE DTVISICH SAID. -
ED TO MALCOLM X WHILE HE VAS IN 3

POLYCE] RE PORTED_ THAT KALCOLM HAD -~ == =
EEFCRE LEAVING FOR CKICACO AND THAT [

EAD BEEN SEARCHED FOR A BOMBe :--
ANT KE RO LEADZR) }
YFS40FES
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D STATES

]V[ €mor, (mdum et

—emttnh

e (0 Sulliwj % } DATE: 2-22-65
‘ 2x==Dgheeoh
o 1 - Sullivan
rannal\f’/ e ~ Baumga
F - Bland
- Wannall
Floyd

nt S: 30 m, 2/22/6

Der automatic shortly alter subject was
ther n.\rc”u had any objection to int
* New York Office recom

interview.,
G i

Subject was assassinated 2/21/65 w‘xﬂle addrcssinv a

g of Organization of Afro-American Unity, New York City
ently an anonymous telephone call to XNew York Oifice U

(‘311':; was ir pcssnssion of gun used to Lﬂl Snbwec».

ller who was 1denu;1co as
furnished agents ,45 caliber -
SR ay Service Number 335055 which (pei
ed ‘*c forcibly o..»Laiued from one ‘of subject's nssassir‘s

30pn, 2/22/05
reau iﬂtcrpos(,d no o‘hJectxon to

&P

For informationm, 18 MAR 2 1885 -
NERGer el Ty
O i B
Sen s I




FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION

{

D:te Fehruary 24,

7\.-55 at the rally in Kew Yor
e Audubon Ballroom, whare
X wes ki lmd. ti—mg wes sponsored by the
enizatica of Afro ("L‘qU). [f ;
Ty 3 S
i “_JL"'X"Vt!d at the ballroom Ex=qd
‘f}< was not in sight, Abont -,/ :
LM ¥ appearad on stage right and welked to ,,He
X then left the .astage,

ave the Hu

d “E:voth\,r and <£sters.
a three-guarter length
Xy SLDDd up, end said to
"Gat your hand out of =y

£
5

Negro male who stood up was very dark ¢ 1ec.ﬁﬂ, 5
out 5'10" ¢all,” weighing 180 pounds, ags in ik
¢ A th e dium len;uh smaxg‘ﬁt ha(r. S
-

ad-his coat back and p“oducad an
allic and raiscd his arm,”:At this
ucl ence, ‘.Hic‘x consisted of about. 400
inp

The next thing g A5
Leard about four gun shots, which were fired in “eh)d or cer,
and which souncsd 1like they came from a peri-autoratic p‘stol Eg

Y ’Hs’x fell to the floc“ and
‘Taood. on_MNALCOLY ¥ face. While lyiag-on
floor adout,rive minutes letar‘{:k* TRRE sard at lsest
or 11 more fun shots, which ‘sounced 1ine ey came'from
sare t,pe pun rentioned above and from the same loc‘a‘gicn. g ; OB

W *'1e sr(ll lying on 1_the fioor an
efter the l2st burst of gun hm.

This docunenl contains aeilber reconmandnti e G FaL ui e 3
Your azercy, E and its cordnls ars 2ot Lo be d) b R el bty ot

ibuted owzside your agzescy.




—=x .\v-—q

lcacding a pun clip. L
r—,-‘-L:: 2 .45 caliber clip b

Ad)d not believe thi
j_sclg_gi as his hands

or Cordovan-colored shoes and Tadin
> _) he could furnish no further
Lf).L TUiGer of WALCOLM X, as the scene tas,

: “1 possessed no inforration - =
el SlansIor s nnn by the followers of }‘ALCO..)’ Eu ]
other individuals,

“ho shot hua'n
\r.t appeared to
TE e rally In
‘“ere ¢id not appear to be eno: uph 9Lards
any guar ds near the exits, §

"r the Avdubon Ballroom is rectangulan

<ne lex’t center s*de und left rear side,

e ,_,_ne podium_ bp‘und vhich )‘...L,COLH X stoo.‘ was drez:tly
I<hezcenter-aisle.. {73

=L I
e Yt man wiG siooa Up, r2nticned asove,
cc)e r;f__‘_thc left row of chairs, about three

;i3 and about four rows from the front ™~




@_)" was at ths pally
5 wnen HALCOLH X was
e ‘u ubea Ballroomy 165¢h

ocm ubOUt 2 HSHetnd aty

he stape
Fa right a’\d La’»\ed to
LD

P

H}L (0] stood on LzLe podium and said sor-’tﬁz‘xp to the
effect "Good al’te:‘w oon Brothers and Sisters.” -At this e a - i
Nezro male, wearing & suitcoat le g’*‘i black Jeather coat, stood - ‘
up 2t é a Negro zale on his ‘c"t, "Get your hand out
of Tha ran standing up wore xbaki pants, white

collar, He was about 5')1" tall, weiphed
uild, ape about 29, slipht beard and
in-a eircle around mouth and ching -
short-cut '-o-auvhairi !-1\.)1 o dium gark 77

/ALCOLY then stepped to the right side of the p
(HALCOLH's }c t) and said "We will have ncne of that.” "The wan - *
stending put his left hand in the left pocket of his jacket andp
reroved something, Ke then extended his ara- toward MALCOLM, ... ...
HALCOLY seid excit:d‘y. 2 Bont th dod s iian d s.cpped furt..er to
his laft, 6§ . :

_"our or five rapid ¢
and saw wh T _‘be ;1\\:1 flashes from the sLendmr Fan's -
extencded left arm. Red stains appsarsd on MALCOLM's shirt: f'\')']t
2nd he slumped and fell to t‘e floor. “\_3

5 =2

- 4§ -
Bor conclusinns of the FBL K is e pro -?'Lyo{lhz FBIand Is h;d‘/
buced s




G - S

Jeft a‘sl: and was last seen

7-as then pulled to the
he saw no mors,

el e that when the shoo K
n .aﬂl“; %o, the flooT, jelhnp'

ZrG a 1ot &

ooting at each other f“

a pood look at the
his hand into the st
i i catlifithic
Fhoto
a dark’

&10 sSnot ZmLCOL é'p;ear\ed As(e b.
aon-his Je‘t and ﬂ-. &

man on his riphty as. the “th
2d in  conversa 5

bro‘.:n 511‘
‘\D fu xxher descr,\vt:c
ng them
w,’;w-l there were aisles«r
“vzs no center zisle,
h Tow and
center in

i ithedithree ehoves
o the ripht of

the .third row from

P e T

>c<scss->d no information ch:
‘other xnd‘v:duals or

Er*lnr” ;
ol owers of r‘.nLCOL‘{ X or any
r groups. \:3 %




1 - Belrmont
1 - Mohr
1 - Deleozch o
February 22, 1965
Sullivan . 4V
& Eaungardner
SEDLR Bland:: /Ll
i Floyd 7 L1y

MALCOLY K, LITTLE, =130 known 2§
X

a 20
T Al
. 1/){ ’1 =

S+ GA ]

: FG

1alcolm K, Little, lezder of the Huslinm ¥o Incorporatad

1), =nd the Organization of ‘Afro-American Unity (CXAU), was shot and

>d on the afterroon of Februsary 21, 1865, at approximately 3:10 p.
CAAU being held in the Auduben Ba

et and Broadway,
y advised of tbe inci

@amna
o ey

< nce called out 1n0acsa
ad been picked, (@ Tl UT 20 T lobserved two i
ont of =the k211 in about: the. thard or fourth row,
sort of weapcns. tHelalso recalls seeing two othg
feet behind the first two, and thg
esumed: that they were also~in olvy
shots  and saw Malcolm X fall'='®
a volley of. shots; probably t
> 2ssnjlants” were 21so shooting at_MalcolRml
NG “<~Fran to the foyer of the hall(y
it arens s ACLIC ded a view of_the eptrance to i
Tvco a can, later identified”a2s John Hagen) running down
2isle croncking and weaviag with a .45 caliber pistol in bis bhand.”
T 7% one of Xalcolr's followers who was behind the ron, i)

of which evidently hit s sy D
w2s caught oulsiue by

ey e e R B, A T e L

Xegro cale, a2ge 22, WaS &rresied when Icaving ihe Avocubon Ballroom OY
officer stationed ouiside. During. the arrest, a warning shot Fas fired
in the air. .A _.45 caliber clip with four bullets was found in Eagen's
pocket and it was discovered he was wounded in the left thigh'’. Ee is -
presently 3o the Jewish Mermorial Hospital under police detention. Eage
subscquently identified by Identificetion Division through fingerprints
subristed by Kew York Police Departoent, as Talmagt’lﬁ:yer‘,\%}su Ypown 2
/| Thozasysayer, FBI Number 142496F, a Kcaro, born-¥arch~16;-1947, % cloil

?\l?w Jerscy.\ <

! by 2
5]
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New York Police
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HOSPITAL, NEW YORK CITY
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YOUR KEANDS OU

£ GOT A LOOK AT THE BaCX
FIRST SHOT. BUT WOULD
AND

FROM BEING SHOT, P
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SATDTRZtYAS INTERVIEW
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1 T

Aa T
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- -Upcn d)sc sc'nrv t‘~1 pES
i (T

1 pcn to Nation of 151 (hO1) Temple #7, 1 . 116‘b\,

neerny NOI Shabazz r,est:urznt befo
1'0 cover the situation, G

is Delief and pessibly lL was unly

, based on &is knowledge of the violent feud~
10I and Malcolm's' gioup, the Muslim Xosgue, I.\r:o;—
o : e :

“‘ﬂﬁl"‘so advised tha PO
at. about 11230 p.ins;. -21-65,-and -tola lum'vnautm 4
f New York for Chicago and should-tben’ be-in
Cnicago. y will#hittlestheciEldjah
the Unive ty/of Islam) (NOL school in \.h‘.cago).
indicate the source of his <nfor:ntion.,

fuhammad to avenge t eio)

; ong—distance
her that six of Malcolm's foll
the life of the Mess LLi A
sed that (not fur thr_\r Gl ITe) DOT SnTois
g up vith unknown individuals who were
ly the Chxcﬁr-o bOl Tenple) to blow it up
ofct
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T DEIOIN
vLed n’ma;xsn;p in
ore he was sitt

oto of TAL
ho stood up
vfmr hand out of my
p

Tfrom

T
own a mu; Shot
could not make a positive

a full length photo of
ntifie d JOINSON as an individual who
OKLAU mzeting. - At the time He coul
sUdefinitely present at the mceting
shovn a mug shot of
=d familiar but could not 1

t as soon as the
¢ r. While on the

man he ballroom load
an E,"‘itCEJtiC gu nly s this man as b

Iz -could not idznt b 4Zndividual.
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DATE: 6/2];/55

dices con
\bv is una
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1-Ke¥ York
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Court can see, ©

endant L 235-6, 6

mention several other suspects as well as the possible whereab

of the mysferious Reuben Francis.

2. There is another FBI document which is not yet if

possession which indicates that there was a meeting between




and one John Ali at the Americana Hotel in New York City Jjust be-
for the murder of Malcolm X. This document is from the Special
Agent in Charge of the New York Division to Director J. Edgar Hoo-

1966, -and will be forwarded to.both Cour

ver and is dated March 3,

and opposing counsel- as soon as received. This® information was turj

ed over to the prosecutor before or during the trial but was not
fhj\sed in the cross-examination of Hagan by him. Instead, it was ap
Jar‘ently used in the cross-examination of defendant Butler.TT3379-
3. From the material submitted-with this-affirmation and
: revious affidavit, it is obvious:-that much crucial exculpatory
‘evid»:-nce in the hands of-the FBI and the New York City:Police D
‘:ent was never revealed to the defense-and thus. affords another

ound for the relief sought in this motion, namely that set fortH

Yn §440.10(f) and (h), and defendants now urge .same upon this.Cour

d:: New York, N:Y¥.:
April 29, 1978 "
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FBI
_ Date: 8/29/69

E (r;m-‘—%

P

"' Chicago), 8/22/69, and 8/25/69.

(Prionity)

DIRECTOR, FBI (100-448006) " °
SAC, CHICAGO (157-2209) . .

COUNTERINTELLIGENCE PROGRAM
BLACK_NATIONALIST = HATE_GROUPS__.
RACTAL INTELLIGENCE .
(NATION OF ISLAM)

Re Yiami airtels to. the Director (copy. to

Referenced airtel dated

hizoi b the authority to assist

E WCKI-TV, a local Miami station, in preparation .-

Socumentary-type expose of the NOI in the southiis
Florida area, the ogjective being to show how the NOI
takes money from the black people of the Miami area and
gives nothing in return. hiami requested the Bureau
.and Chicago to furnish photographs or films of KOI ...
‘peetings, conventions, or other affairs. -

objectives are not clear in that it
caniiot ined whethier his expose.is to be.confined..-
to the Miami area or:is-to’be national in scope. . However; =
the following is set forth for consideration:. .. "

It would appear thatg:((\h:o;ﬂd desire to ©
present a current picture of the actual inner workings of
the NOI. He mentions exposing misuse of donations and

receipts from the sale of 'huhammad Speaks" (1S). This
{s post difficult to do from interviews of the membership

s oo, 1 co 120285006312

@ purees ()10 (Fae. 13650 /_/_ﬂ__‘ﬁ G- 12t
1 - Chicago e :

- . q‘:’-}\?:",:.ff. SEP .1 by

54

SO
gt

Proved: Lo e

P15 lgdgm Ageat in




P . & :
as they consider donations they make much as j-iould regular ‘3
church goers. It is recogn(zed ELIJAH MUHAZ MAD and other _
NOI leaders live lavishly. This has been exposed and is ..
well known. It had no discernible effect on the ROI -
penbership. It is known, and has been reported in semi-.

nual NOI reports available to pMiami, that the NOI, for

he past several’years, has been using cash accrued from -
land sppreciation,~“donations, and receipts from’the sale *

of &S to buy farms in both Georgia and liichigan, to buy

. buildings in Chicago, and converting

“stores, etc.

same into restaurants,

Investigation has determined these are registered
in the names of Progressive Land Developers, Inporporated,
and/or United Dynamic Corporation, both incorporated in the
.State of Illinois and botg having prominent NOI leaders-
as pembers OF. the Board of DirectorsSe. == - °- R s

Enclosed for liami is a Xerox copy of an article’~
entitled, "'Black huslims Set Their Sights on:the Supremacy--
of Capitalisam' by WILLIAM JONES, which article appeared in--
the "Chicago Sunday Tribune,' 1/26/69, page 1. This
article sets forth full details regarding the NOI's use

. of mowies received. It is felt the pertinent development
is the NOI using non-religlous corporations’ to invest the P
* monetary receipts - the investments not being titled under -
the name NOI, tiuhamnad!s Temple Nunmber 2,:etc.c ‘¥When--=7 o
T ELLJAH MUHA.MAD becomes incapacitated or _passes on, what:
happens - to-these holdings’ insofar as-the mzmbership is, -
concerned? .- & LN = fEle

ey — = 7
1 nay desire to contact the "Chicago Tribune' =

as to wne ¥ he can use the above A Eiclesiie :

Chicago has not for several years conducted any
photographic surveillances of NOI conventings, etc., due =
to racial tensions. It would appear = Jcould obtain - - -
such photographs from issues of eh are available to
¥iami. It would further appear could purchase
ELIJAH MUHAMAD's LP records, W =Te advertised in hS




flcs 5722090

weekly or could contact Radio Station WFAB, Yiiami-Fte. 7

Lauderdale, for taped speeches by 11UHA:MAD as his tapes

are advertised as played thereon at 5:30 a.m. each Sunday.’
It is-also noted }UHA MAD's books, ™ essage to.the Black

. Man" and "How to Eat to Live,' are both advertised in MNS..
- Of course, NS is the best source of NOI activity. -

~ It would appear might consider direct

_ contact with various NOI ministers in the Miami area as
past experience has shown they welcome chances to be ‘="
interviewed. If former members who are willing to_discuss
the situation could be located, this should be considered.

2 At the present time, Chicago does not desire to
rehash some of the exposes that occurred around _the time "
of the defection of NALCOLM X LITILE as top level sources
could be endangered and future activitIés TOETE

Referenced Niami airtel dated 8/25/69, reflected
> s attempting to locate statements of. prominent .-i
fovernment and police officials regarding dangers created
.by the KOI. Again, Cnicago agrees that the constant hate
*teachings against the white race is most undesirable. This
if-lespecially trvefas it-relates.to the children'of Ehers
menbership wno are indoctrinated from birth on.to hate the
white man.-=:. i i
In an:effort to.keep == proposed docubentary
current,-the following observations’ are set forths i

“Report of dated 6/20/69, pages %
49 - 53, copy available hiiami, sets forth full details 7
regarding ELTJAH LLUHAMAD's statements. concerning hifsec
version of law and order; sets forth data regarding a > =
peeting of the minds between the NOI and the Chicago
Department; and relates details concerning:.plans by the
National Society of Afro-American Policemen, New York City,
to bonor LUHALMAD and the NOI in June, 1969. While this

is in no way meant to infer the NOI is a useful, integral .

urtailed. B
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pért of our society, it does infer a step forward may be
occurring insofar as the NOI. and police cooperation are
concerned. 5 5 s

Several years ago, Chicago utilized a local Federal- =
Judge to speak out against {he NOI. He has not been

Utilized in this tegard since the murder of MALCOLM X LITILE -«
as it was not the Bureau's dasire to involve him in a nacme--
calling contest. It i{s .felt this trend should continue.

the NOI has carefully avoided

any and all contact with other Black Nationalist groups and

their im‘olve:ants,othar,than to call on them to Holni— =
44D, the only divinely inspired leader of the black. =

As you are aware,

e Cﬁicago is not in possession of.information as to. __ .
“hether the ROI Temple im Mianmi is o;\erating a-University--- -
of Islam for children of its membership, but whether it --

ces or not, 3 pay desire to consider interviews o fapa
NOI leaders in fiiami regarding the indoctrination of the * -
children, specifically,as it relates to their feelings towards _
_the white man, the United States Government, etc.

ot timay also desire to consider interviews of:::

various local southern Florida pdolice chiefs onsthelrisiis i
comments in this regard and also interviews of local prison -
officials relating to NOI activities therein :




To: SAC, New York

From:

JALAOLY X _LITTLE

8- 25—65 ‘. A
71 - Ur. Bclnont
— Jir, Mohr

- Ur, Deloach
— 3r. Sullivan
— ir, Gale™>

Z Mr, ¥ Bland ::
=i, Bausgardner
— ¥r, Phillips
"~ Mr. Rosack :

wwwuwwwu

Director, FBI
Pk

<(—;r~n ‘“forv-ﬂtion ‘b'-s no'

%-ou shouldy

the part of. (:W
“FBI-assistanco unuer:Tac Luiss )
z:attor, you should furnish tho Bureau Iull dctails.

i ndvifcd of results. t3.

NOTE:.

caption, prepared. by TPP..JBE dln

W ILa appropriate officials
e ‘Athe poasibility of obtaining .
31 uala.dul 111fut \an“ut concerning hine—:

In the event. there is a contimt 1’in" reluctance: on:
R s el
=%} o0 request

"his should be%ro:ptly handled and the Pureayn”

i 5
See memo Baum":n dner to Sullx» n dnted 8-25—65,— same.. -~
i e et
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/\/[enzmana'um

Lrdas . Ce Sullivan - pate: August 25, 1965

"F. ~J. Ea;x:gardnc'\
AR

The Kew Yorl
being sought by the
appear in court, is po;s

requests authoritvy to oviscithe ol s = 2 IR,
whicl could pcs;;bl) be loc'\tcd

lcader of the 1.'.1511m Tosque, Incorporaic]
as - vas murdered on February 21, 1965. d
i 3 irrested three indivi pals sue
assassins, in addition,-the police arrested
was with Li et a‘z the t;re of his murder

S cheoulcd to )¢
Ahis charge, -He-did not 2
as been atter txn" to deter

= “The « charge fo Ao being soupht com
scope of the Unlawful F1i the New York office’ prcvw-
has discussed with“pplica. oificcrsibandling this matter the possibil
of secking Burcau :xssxst-mce under the Unlawful Flight Statute. Th
n" a continuing flow of unlawful UL,
~Jthere has been a Hesitatid
Ticuiar case, The l\ew \or.c Ofi

Leinont ; E—»ﬁ/x,_‘__._a
s Lohr S L Y L'\ur_g'\xdncr
DcLoach =T D S 55" ‘2

. Sullivan 3 3 Fosacl
- P
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pizvente k.

S =V

advises that of cs“ansxblc fioxrs s =% case’ have been
convinced that[ "~ has bcen hiding out In inc new York City area,
) P S g & :
Jie have received ii.iial ] reports; however, the current information
clearly 1ndicatcsfdf; s fled to rexico. The Kew York office
on® August 24, 1965, acviscd that mth the current infor n indicatin|
T 0

subjectds “out of the country;T - i
Fuiit 11201)‘1ood would requcst Bu

tatute, E - 3

If a Tederal unla i rrant is obta*ncd § 55
% “NOE ‘ would very 1)Lc1y De able 19
ave s 3 5 B cre he could be t'\l\cn int

CLSLody by Lu; cau nsCll

= e T')th th

contact i el ~dand, utilizm the current
information lndxcatln Suchct has iled the country,s fully cxplore the
.ncssﬂ.’ llty of oouurunﬂ a Tedeornl f1ioht c'\nwnt e
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tent received the fc 3
June 13,1965, wkbich b
CQounty Superior Court, Prc

e 3, plack Ycslem, said 1o be
hxd;n,, tn arother state witiie ot
wounds due to the fact that :

volved in the ~<<1‘Hr" of Hale
quastioning‘ 3 3 Florida ‘5 Qe N
place. . -----
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nd,seid, \"1(‘4)' yours
B .C Dallroon.
1078012

cznnot recognize

as bemg in the Auai:ld,

" On March 4, 1955
23 of thisz da%e,
ed for the kiiling of ki

.3 s5aid after thh?ooung"h* Dic
sused to kill MALOOLY X and gave it to€
1 ¢i€"said hztalso piclked up a German Juger y-: 2
gaeve it to another unkmown person to hold unt fealal
the police arrived. . -

luger was never Cicn Cuir torenc ;u;;c;murtmﬂit
and this gun could probably account for the nine
jilineter slus 1n MATCOINYs  bodin,. iy




NEW YORK

Ind. No. 871/65

tor on March 3, 1966.
2. It contains.in the first full: paragraph
arently-received.by: the prosecutor-from the FBI relating to:an-
ting: between. John™-Ali, then.the National~Secretary ohi
ihe Nation: of-Islafm-and Thomas:-Hagan—at the AmericanazHotel on

the evening of February 20th, 1965, the eve of the murder of Mal-

lolm X. Although the FBI indicated that it was indeed Hagan who

had met with Ali, the prosecutor did not guestion the former about

the meeting but did interrogate defendant Butler about 1it.

3379-82. .
Ji

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER
lsworn to before me this 12th
lday of May, 1978.

fllﬁ/h ;i; B bfif /M,V(i

MARGARET L. RATNER
NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF NEW YORK
No. 313211470




+as kill=d. . Duriag-the cross examination by Assistant &
District Attorney VILCIHT J. b DY, the doctor admitted -
that he treated BUTLER, but four days after the killing
of MALCOLH X znd that the injury could have been
caused by a person -falling down a-flight of sta Tpatea it
is noted that when o —=o ———--—dtestirfied at the ===
74 stated ‘that one ol tb 2ssassins Jjumped over==<
while running down the stairs to get out of
& 11room after MALCOLM X was killed..z The 7=
defense attorneys according ool 3 were ::<
disturded by the doctor's testino i said they wouldr
inpeach the doctor. - Judge CEARLES I RKS Teminded ‘the Gz -3 bk
‘defense attorneys that the doctor was their witnesse==={_ . * ]

s B SiE stated that District Attorney :
DERMODY re‘:?_xestioned u’q’{,’li“out meeting with JOIN ALI,-‘-_,jJ
NOI Kational secretary, =t ¢
+re nicht before MALCOLY X was killed,

_370H: ALI.but never met him ;
“{nforzation was received that JOII ALL mét with EAYER the
night before” MALCOLM X was killed;ibut that the witness
to tnis meeting was- later-arrestedfor ‘theft and was_DOW

- cons¥ered undesirable as:a state witness.===.- -

ey T b

A ECOGe,. L e 0 s tabedsthalt CIAALES 374

’4{;%"}11'3; was t,'gis dite again called to_the witness stand, -

15 time on behalf =< the defense.~During cross=z=

examination‘mf’iﬁi.:’“cﬁgt:ed that e Vas cr:i a menber of"
the IOL in XY and at_that time Ynew DUTLZR and JOrI S0k -
as menbers of the IOI wEnforcement Squad" whose.duty it
vas to talk to and sometimes "shake up people."

ds 7 According to T = mare o, while BUTLR
vas on thé witness stand Judge MARKS stated that gfs A
BUTLER's manners.on the stand did not change, he would -
charzcd the Jury-to take into consideration SUTLER's - .
mannerism and demeanor in deternining if he was_telling ‘==

the truth on the witness stand. RIS Tl stated




THE PEOP!

vs.

MUBAMMED ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUTLER) IND. NO. 871-65
d M (THOMAS 15 X J ON)

Defendants

STATE OF ILLINOIS )

COUNTY OF COOK  )°°

B
AMIN GOODMAN, FIRST DULY SWORN, DEPOSES AND SAYS:

I am presently a resident of the city of Chicago, am employed as an

cer -at ‘Evanston Hospital, and a member of -the World Ci
ber of the Fruit of Islam from 1957 until —May - of 1964..<
3. During this.time period, I was Assistant Minister to Malcolm X, at Mosque
7 in Harlem, New York City.

4. Among my functioms as Assistant Minister was to give lectures and
speeches throughout -the Northeast, and to provide security .for. Malcolm, from
time to-time, as one of:his chief aides.. ’==.

5. During the late 1950's 'and early 1960's,~T became .acquainted and. closely-——
_assaciated with Norman 3X Butler.and Thomas 15X Johnson,-who were-also members
of Mosque#7 during this time period.

6. Among the duties that Johnson and Butler performed as members of }'{osquE 7
was bodyguard to Malcolm X.

7. In early 1964, when Malcolm left the Fruit of Islam and formed the Organ-
ization of Afro-American Unity, I left with him as his Assistant Minister.

_ §.-.Butler and Johnson remained in the Fruit of Islam as members of Mosque #7.

9. On February 21, 1965, in the early afternoon, I was at the Audubon Ballroom
on West 166th Street in New York City, where Malcolm X was to give a speech.
... 10. As Assistant Minister,-I gave-an introductory speech, -approximately-=-=

twenty minutes in length, to the four to five hundred people in the Ballroom.




i inevine the speechil uas SRbISEEE 2nd Gid observe the faces of

ople in the crowd, as one of my functions was to provide security

for Malcolm's person.

12.At no time did I see the

faces of Butler or Johoson, whom 1 knew well,

and would have been sure to S otice cince theyRuERE still Muslims from Mosque #7,

.re was a high degree of animosity between the Fruit of JIslam and the

ization for Afro rican Unity.
13. Additionally, no Muslims yould have been admitted to the ballroom- - -=

without Malcolm's notification and permission, and no such notification or
permission was sought from Malcolm or from me on February 21st.

Y4 AfeeecT Einished my speechy: I:introduced Malcolm as.a man ".who' =
vould give hisslife for, the people!l,then went directly to a dressing room -
to deliver a message 3t Malcolm's instruction.

15. While in the -dressing Toom (Behind -a -closed door} for-a very short.=—

time, I heard noises which I later Jearned were the shots vhich killed
Malcolm.._Z_.
16. I therefore:did not witness Malcolm's assassinationy.
During the years-curs
17./After. Malcolm's - assassination,:T: had conversations. with many of:
the people in the Ballroom-on-February 21t ;- sincluding. many ©OAAU membersw—
18. All of these people said that four or five $eople were involved in-

the assassination, and those ‘0AAU members =who knew Butler and Johnson from  ---

(Butler.and Johnson):- - --
Mosque #7 said that they/were mnot present. _
19. During 1965, I was summoned to the New York Police Precinct
at or near S5lst Street and Amsterdam in New York City.
20. Detectivesquestioned me about Malcolm's assassination, and showed me
pictures,among which appeared to be pictures of Butler and P
21. I told these detectives that Butler and Johnson were not present

at the Audubon Ballroom on February 21st.””

22. Later 4n 1965 I was summoned to the New York Police Precinct _-




at or near 100th Street in New York City, and again questioned about
Malcolm's assassination.

23.0ne of the detectives was a sergeant dressed in plains clothes,
with an Ttalian name which was-Galante, ©oT something similar. -~

24. I told these detectives that Butler and Johnson were not

present in the ballroom on February 21st, and that I had not witnessed the

actual shooting.

25. Despite what I told them, these detectives continued to try __

to persuade me to say that I had witnessed the shooting, and that Butler

ad been present. Wnen T refused to make ‘such a-statement, they=-.-
beceme angry.

26. Later in 1965, 1 was surmoned to an interview with an assistant ~=-Z
District Attorney named Sterm, who had another assistant present when we talked.
I told them that I knew Butler and- Johnson, .that they had not been present.-
at the ballroom that-day, -and, that-T had tiot: seen the actual shooting. is:.

27. When Tsaid this,:Mr:, Stern became:angry-and: said that ke krew T--
had previously--said -that <T-had:. seen <+he- shooting- through-an-open -dressing
room door. This was not true and I had never said this to anyone. In his
anger, Mr. Stern threatened me; saying, "Have'you ever been.to. jail? ‘How
would you like to go to jail?"

TS H SETE et AR .-Ei . several times. On

s gent
each occasion, I told them that Butler and Johnson had not been present at

th Audubon Ballroom on February 21, 1965.

29. I was never called.to testify.at the criminal trial of Butler,.

Johnson and Hagan.
SERETRA -
3 7 : i .
& 5 S oo 7
SUBSCRIRED AND - SWORN-BEFORE ME 3 '/ﬁnjamn Goodm: ot

THIS/J DAY OF MAY, 1978

Moidi) et .
FOTARY PUBLIC —
i

PAIRTIR RARL




T OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

AFPIDAVIT
Ind. No. 871/65

Sy-

MMAD ABDUL AZzIZ (Norman 3X Butler
ALIL ISLAM (Thomas’15X Johnson),:

Defendants.
OF_NEW YORK:
) £53\
TY OF NEW YORK) T,
BENJAMIN KARIM, being duly sworn, deposes -and saysi=-"=
1. I have previously executed an affidavit in this.matter
'on or about May 15, 1978, under the name of Benjamin Goodman.

Since-that time, I have adopted the lastiname of Karim:in- place

of “Goodman. .~
2. Izhave read.the Supplementary Affirmation .submitted in
opposition=to=the within-motion and the exhibits-thereto-and I-~
wish to answer or explain some elements thereof and enlarge upon
my earlier-affidavit.: _ ..

3. During my first interview with the police,” I'was shown
some photographs of black men but could recognize no one.

on, I was shown photographs again, which included those of Butle]
and Johnson, and I told. the police that Butler ané Johnson were

hot” present. in.the ballreom on February 213 1965. - Tneﬁ‘attempte
ko force me to say that these men were present by stating, in on
lay or another, that they had participated in the murder and I ™

have seen them there. One officer in plainclothes, whom I now k

lras named Cilento, became very -angry when I would not say that




Jonnson were present or that I had witnessed the shoot
ver told any police officer that I had looked over th

ay was that I had scanned the

of the crowd that day; what I did s

. crowd.
4. Shortly after my second interview by the police, Iw

to_sit down with an assistant district attorney by the nam
He said that a police officer had told him that I had
told

I saw the shooting through an open door and I

was a lie.. At that moment, he became visibly angry an

me if I had ever been to jail,,which I regardedr-as-a disti

askel him whether he was going to put me-in=jail beca

let him put words into my mouth.- He then-stormed o

of the room leaving with another-man. I asked-this man, who ha
a copy of Louis Lomax's book, When the word is Given, whether £

to destroy-the Nationzof: Islam: because most:of Mr

questions:dealt with. the activities within the Nation::6-He said

"Yes,"zand I. repliedithat:-he -would haveia- hardijob.jsb.
5. After that interviewyiI=was taken=to-the Grand:Jury- ¥

Stern-becg

| Mp. Stern questioned me. - During my questioning,;l"u‘.

angry ‘at-some -of -my :answers about looking at:the audience-and

timated that I had told him in his office “that I hadn’t looked

directly at the audience when I spoke. I did not tell him thig

{and couldn't remember having done SO. When he asked me if I K]

e in the audience, I answered tha

or-off to.on

whether Butler or Johnson wer

did not because, if they-had been in the far rear-

or the other sides, I might not have seen the;n. When I tried

to explain Fhat 1t was.difficult for me to believe _that they

were. there or-could have gotten in without being seen, he inte




rupted me and would not let me complete the answer.

i i
i them or reported their presence unless they had been wearing masks
i

..tions -that people from:-Mosgue No.7-could-be-admitted but that he

6. I had told him in his office before I went to the grand
jury that we had brothers who had been members of Mosque No. 7
who knew Butler and Johnson well and who would either have stopped !

'
or had their heads under their overcoats, which would have prevented
|

! their entrance under any circumstances. Malcolm had given instruc-

had to be informéd and.they had to be.watched. This was absolute--
!1ly necessary.because:we were not searching-people for weapons. They
instructed. to..inform me as-well.- I told all-of _this-to
in his office.

Before the trial, I was informed by Sharon Shabazz, who

had beén.seated near -the front when.the shooting took place, that

1
she had been informed -byiaiBrother .George that DistrictrAttorney -

Hogan wanted her to:testify against:Butler-and Johnson.but that
she had seen the men who did the shooting and knew ‘that the defen-
dants, whom she had known for a long time, were not among them.

8. I was in total shock after Malcolm's .death, playing tar
of his speephes over and over again, and I could not believe that ‘
he was gone. I would have testified if someone had called me but \
I would never have volunteered it on my own as I simply did not |
want to live that horrible-day over again unless I was - forced to
do so. Even working with the lawyer on this affidavit is terribly
painful for me, as it brings back memories of one of the most-hor-
rible days of my life. e

9. I am prepared to testify in any court mnow because I real-




t two innocent men have peen in jail for many years. While I

dn't think so then, I understand now that my testimony mi

and I want to do something about it.

of some help to them,

— e
®
1]
=)

n to before me this

N
H

v of July, 1978




SUPREME COURT OF THE STATL OF NEW YORK
i
COU\TY OF NEW YORK: PART 35

Th}: PLO“LE OF TH}: STATE DF

Respondent, : REPLY AFFIRMATI
SUPPORT OF MOTION
~against- VACATE JUDGMENTS _

UHAMMAD ABDUL AzIZ, (Norman 3X Butler), i Indictment Number
g 871/65

and
UKHALIL ISLAM (Thomas 15X Johnson),

Defendants-Movants.

} STATE OF NEW YORK )
|
COUNTY OF NEW YORK ]

|
|
|
I

J WILLIAM M, KUNSTLER, an attorney duly admitted to pract

“la“bﬁeque the courts of this State, hereby affirms under penal

ch;c—:jury that:

"1, 1 am submitting this reply affirmation to the Peopl
Supplementa;’y Affirmation in Opposition to Motion to Vacate Jud
ments, a copy of which was Teceived by me at approximately 1:45
on July 18, 1978,

2, With reference to that portion of the material deal
lyith the affidavit of Benjamin Goodman submitted to this Court
May, I contacted Mr, Goodman today and he reiterates that, had
SIS Tt T present in the audience at the Audubon B4
lroom on February 21, 1965, he would have seen them, Not only d
he know them well but they had served as Malcolm X's bodyguards

before the latter's defection from the Nation of Islam.

3, Moreover there was only one entrance to the room I




"Which the meeting of the Organization of Afro-American Unity (0AAU

took place and- the security guards thereat 41so would have recog-
.nized defendants and alerted everyome concerned.

4. It is obvious from reading Mr. Goodman's grand jury te
"timony, which covers some 39 pages, that only three pertain to hif
LTl e Tadyence yiiMEy Cogaman iuAS asked on page 20
It ciher he Qookedllatiithe fand ifence O i : .above the audience” wh{
'ne spoke  He replicd chciliyouficalefinitht whole audience." Id.
vHe de: thot U[vlot more oriles-tueiehiiicheiuhole audience," Ibid
At p SN0

5.0 The 1ast answer apparently did mot satisfy Mr. Stern,
vho proceeded to cross-examine Mr. Goodman by reminding him that,
“on March 30, 1965, in the former's office, the witness had allege

1y said that, when he spoke, he looked "over the head of the crow

Id. But Mr. Goodman did not recall making that statement.

i
i

6. The tone of the interrogation them changed to an obvil

Strern to put words in Mr. Goodman's mouth.

was intent on forcin‘g the witness to st3
that he didn't know whether either defendant was present that day
Q: So you do not know whether or mot either man was
there, is that correct?
A: No, sir, I can't say that'they weren't nor could I s
they were, because I didn't see ‘them.

Ibid. at.p. 23

7. Mr. Goodman assured me today that if the defendants
been in the audience. he would have reocgnized them as would the

guards at the entrance to the room. He did not see the shoot-—

%/ Although Mr. Stern's notes, Appendix C, state that he was 1
by the police that Goodman told them that he “doesn't look
an audience, but looks over their heads,"” no mention of thi

fact appears in the two police reports. Appendix B. L
e ; e/l




ing and could not know what the People's evidence would.be.
the defendants had been hiding behind chairs or in a closet,
would not have seen them, which explains why he answered Mr.

'Question, supra, as he did. Mr. Stern failed to question Mr,

Goodman adequately on the points raised by the latter in his
‘.davit or to explore the fact that, if either defendant was seated

in the audience, the witness would have recognized him.

8. It is inexplicable why Mr. Goodman wasn't called as ap

liintroductory witness to set the stage for the murder. One expla-

|
nation, of course, is that he would have provided exculpatory evi-

|
iidence about defendants. The eagerness of the People to accept the

| e
jlconcept that Goodman always looked over the heads of the crowd

I

|j“ithout specifically questioning him about this particular day is
I

'‘quite revealing-

prepared to take the witness stand and

=
J &
"reccunt;_undu —oath th *periences with Mr. Stern and state the

‘threatSJade——to him thereby. 1If anything Mr. Stern's affidavit,
the grand jury minutes and Mr. Goodman's affidavit point up the
need for an evidentiary hearing on this point.

10. The People in no way answer Mr Hagan's affidavit, othe

|
|
{
|
i
I

than indicating that there is nothing in their files indicating

! "any of the persons identified by Hagan in his affidavits

}as having been his accomplices in the murder of Malcolm X." Mr.
Alpert’s affirmation at p. 2,
11. As for the unredacted copies furnished Mr. Alpert by ‘
Special Agent Steven Edvardsiiithey ‘do ndt imclude the key docu-
ments furnished with my affidavit of VApril 29, 1978. The following

=g




omissions will make this point clear:

Document 38, which states that an informant

“described the person who handled the shotgun
as a tall Negro whom he recognized as a member
of the Newark Temple. . . .3 lieutenant in the
Newark Temple." (emphasis added) ¥,

a.

Document 39 (p. 2 of Document 38), states that
"[T]he man who started the distraction by claimi
that someone's hand was in his pocket was
described as a short, dark skinned Negro with
bushy hair and a mustache, who was believed to
ember of the Newark Temple." (emphasis

The fact that some of the unredacted FBI documents
indicate other names than Mr., Hagan has included in his affidavits
is of no significance whatsoever. In the first place, the agents'

informants might have been mistaken about or not known the real or

il
adopted names of the murderers. Secondly, we have seen only a h

ful of -the more than a million pages of documentation on the Natio

s Lo o

-of the FBI Lastly, there can be littl
entity of the killers, that the information

in the FBI documents is exculpatory and, if known to the police oT|
1 = - e

‘:the prosecution, should have been turned over to the defense. In

]
ithe last analysis, it is obvious that the FBI and its informants

i
;knew that the assassins bad come from or been associated with the

|
'Newark Mosque, a temple with which neither Butler nor Johnson had

jany relationship.
13. Counsel was in error in stating that the trial lawyerd

for defendants did not know of the whereabouts of Reuben Francis

or that he was kept from their knowledge by the prosecution. All

of the transcript vas not avaialble at the time earlier affidavit:

were prepared and the exchange about Francis was not picked up anf




81 apology 4, in order,
cist location only .
and thae the prosecutor

stater:ents taken from him, BT

‘:ha:, because ¢p, People hag €harged Franey, with fg7

! the assassination, that ¢, call hip With the dSsurance that pe wou )

Pleagd the Fiftp Ar:endment Would make him truly unavsilable,

ia practical Ratter, as a Witness, The entire Reuben Francis

ode, including his Surrender to the

and hig dispositiou of o

Say the least. B
T4 conclusion, the Peopier BEROEIngina, ., GO s
1

lieps slightesy, Deet the 1ssues Taised in py Hagap'g Second afgy_

,’v‘davit °F alter ¢y, effect of that of Mr, 1f anything,




CERTIFICATE OF SERVIC!

The undersigned, an atéorhey duly admitted to practice as
in the courts of the State of New York, herebu certified that
copies of the within affidavits were forwarded this date by
repaid United States first class mail to the District Attorney,
w York County.

! /L‘Zéﬁéz?a’—)—

WiLLIAN M. KUNST

New York, N.Y.
july 24, 1978




OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
YORK : PART 35
S TR0 T ST s X
THE STATE OF NEW YORK e
-v- -
Ind. No. 871/65
\D ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUTLER) :
\LIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X JOHNSON),
Defendants.
—————————— =i

STATE OF NEW YORK )

COUNTY OF
WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER, an attorney duly licensed to practice ag|
such in the State of New York, under the pain and penalties of per-
jury, hereby affirms as follows:
1. I am submitting this affidavit pursuant to the understandi
reached in open court of September 6, 1978.

¥ 2:—Counsel has Farnished to the Court and the People the namq

;:f" »t;areeh;:tihe four;q;?who participated with Thomas Hagan in the
assassination of .Malcolm X at the Audubon Ballroom on February 21,
1965. I have received what I consider to be accurate information
l1j:hat two of these men, Benjamin or Ben Thomas or Thompson and Lee

Ii
pa/k/a Leon Davis, reside in Paterson, N.J. and attend the World Com

il
rlmunlty of Islam Mosque in that city.- - I have also been informed th

:fcllowing the publicity generated by the hearing of July 26, 1978,
these two men left the area but have now returned thereto. The thi3
inan, identified as William X in Hagan's affidavit of February 25,

is apparently one William Bradley, who is serving a long sen
at the Caldwell State Prison in Bergen County, N.J. Accordin
information, his sentence is 7 1/2 to 15 years.

3. From our experience with Mr. Bradley who first denied any

et




participation in the murder and then stated that he was not going’
to jeopardize himself for anyone when interviewed by an Islamic
ister, it is highly unlikely‘th’at any importuning on defendants'
part, through counsel or Islamic ministers, is going to have any
significant effect. . In this light, it is\our suggestion that, wun-
der the supervision of the Court, the People be directed to inter-
view all three men and to conduct the same type of investigation
that would be customary when information by one accomplice is furn-
ished which implicates others in his crime.

4. Mr. Hagan has given the names, as he knows them, of his
accomplices and described in full all the particulars of the crime
and its preparation. He is in a position to identify these men and

should be presented to him for such purpose, whether through
a lineup or showup or photographs. It should not be difficult to

the tWo who are on the street and Mr. Bradley is readily av|

,niterrt':gaf;iorr}ti

other words, Mr. Hagan has given a great deal of infor-|
:mation which can only be realistically followed up by the authori-
;;ties. Defendants are in no position, either financially or logis-
:jtically,to do much more than they have done to date. They-both fed
;that there is.enough before the Court at this point Vto“grant them
the new trial they seek, but they cannot afford to gamble on that
I’premise when there is available the best proof of all of their in-
nocence - - the three men who, along with Hagan and one other,
murdered Malcolm X. ) .

6. Under an order from this Court, the People, with their imq
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mense resources and manpower, could easily follow up on.the leads

furnished by Hagan and be in a position to report to the Court as

to the results thereof. From any point of view, it is simply too

dancerous and unrealistic to expect defendants to do the police wor.

required to ascertain the involvement of the three men referred to

above.

7. Concededly, this is an unusual case with ramifications th

go well beyond the New York City scene. But courts are not power-

less simply because we are dealing with unigue situations and it

/ would seem, in the interest of justice, that this Court should ¢

cider seriously the suggestion put forth above. If the defendants

have spent almost fourteen years of their lives in prison for a

crime they did not commit, then we are confronted with amorstrous

miscarriage of justice. It would seem that they have presented

enough_to raise a strong possibility, even probability, that they

_might be Innocent men. Under those circumstances, this Court cann

‘afford to leave any stones unturned that might conclusively prove

'that innocence.

/

- / 1!717@4&, /)f. /4

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER

“Dated: New York, N.Y.
September 12, 1978




,ork County
of counsel

Wi \11&" n\m slery

On Sunday, February 21, 1965, at the Audobon Eallroom
in Manhattan, Malcolm X, leader of the Orgenization of Afro-
rican Unity and Muslem Mosque, Inc., was gunned down as he
ddressed a meeting of his followers. An extensive police i
vestigation r:—::sued, with the cooperation of the FBI. One

Thomes Hagan was wounded in the altercation and was arrested by

police outsicde the Audobon Ballroom. Subseguently, on March 10,

1665, Hagen and the petitioners here were indicted for the murder

of Malcolm X. They were tried before a jury and convicted on
arch 11, 1G66. The convictions were upheld on appeal, first by

the fppellate Division First Department (29 AD2d 931) &nd finally

Appendix B @




convictions should be se i 2 new
This court has had these motions under consicer
ebruary 1978. During that period, petitioners hav
rous gdocuzentss including afficavits end FBI
the investigation and prosecution
be resolved by the court at
a probability tha
ct in this case would have been otherwise had the Jjury
considered any. evidence therein contsined, or whether the docu-
ments disclose prosecutorial misconduct which may have deprived-
petitioners of a fair trial (People v Crimmins, 38 NY2d 407).

Two affidavits are in issuve. The first, an original

end a supplementary affidavit, is that of Thomas Hagan. ¥r.

Hagen affirms that it wes he and four others, not the petitioners
here, who murdered lMalcolm X in February 1965. The informetion
contained in Mr. Hegen's affidevit is a recepitulation, although
somewhat more specific, of his testimony at the original trial.
Petitioners argue that by virtue of the specifics which affiant

Fagan now relates, his testimony would be much more credible in




other witness either at
The court also

perscns whon @

ication in corro oration of

arently were never the object
h efforts of local, state and
The rights of those at whom
points the finger of suspicion must also be considered
ced by petitioners do not rise to the level of
+o believe that those named were in any way ¢
cordingly, this court cannot order the district
orney to interrogate these persons, nor subject them to court

lordered identification procedures. The district attorney has an

l»obligaticn to the fair ad nistration of

public justice independent

llof the authority of -this court. His is the prosecutorial

discretion. The court notes that the prosecutor has been forth-

lceming with government documents and has in no wa

|

Yy obstructed the
recvaluation of this case. ere there reliable evicence which
ended to support the conclusions that petitioners suggest, this

rt is confident that the district attorney would undertake to

3]




in the Audobon Ballroom
of proof is con-

contemporaneous

would affect the original verdict upon a new trial (People Vv
ins, supra at 417).
These affidavits, complete on their face, conclusively

nstrate that the offer of proof they contain is neither new

o create a probability of a more favorable

verdict. Accordingly no hearing is required (People V Crimmins,

supra at 417).
The cor nobis portion of petitioners' motion relates

that one Gene Roberts, who was listed among those witnesses

available to the defense at trial, was, unknown to the defense,

an undercover officer. Mr. Roberts' status was revealed in 1971
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:; APPELLATE DIVISION
FIRST DEPARTMENT

’ THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

]
|
: Ve
|

i
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" MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUTLER)
! and KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X JOHNSON) ,

No.

S G005 (0 o

Defendants NOTICE OF MOTION

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, that defendants herein, by their under

signed counsel, will move this Court, upon the annexed affidavit o

WILLIAM M . KUNSTLER, d\‘]ly verified the 29th day of November, 1978,
and all the proceedings heretofore had herein, pursuant to §450.15,
subdivision 1, Criminal Procedure Law, at the Courthouse, Madison
zvenue and 25th Street, New York, N.Y. on the 12th day of December,
1978, at 9:30 o'clock in:the forenoon thereof or-as soon thereaftex
as counsel can be heard, for a certificate granting them.leave to
appeal thereto from an order of the Supreme Court of the State of
New York, County of New i{orx,' General Trial Term, Part 35, Rothwax,
J., denying their motion for the vacation of judgments of convictig
duly entered against them on the 14th day of April, 1966, sentenci

them to imprisonment for the term of their natural lives, which sail

order was duly made and entered on {;he 1st day of November, 1978.
Yours, etc.,

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER
853 Broadway
New York, N.Y. 10003
(212)674-3303

Attorney for !etitioners

. Dated: New York, N.Y.
November 29, 1978 ’
A"wl:x-b @




! APPELLATE DIVISION
FIRST DEPARTMENT

| THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF- NEW YORK

—v-

MUHAMMAD ABDUL AZIZ (NORMAN 3X BUTLERO
’and KHALIL ISLAM (THOMAS 15X JOHNSON) ;

'AFFIDAVIT

Defendants.

STATE OF NEW YORK )
)

COUNTY OF NEW YORK)

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER, being-duly sworn, deposes and says:

1. I am the attorney for defendants herein a_nd I am.making
this affidavit in support of their motion for a certificate grant-
ing them leave to appeal to this Court from an order of the Supreme|

Court of the State of. New York; County of New York,; General Trial

Term, Part 35, Rothwax, J:i, duly made and entered the 1st day of
November, 1978, denying their motion,i pursuant to §440.10, CTriminal
Procedure Law, for the vacations of - their judgments:of conviction
duly entered against’ tlem the 14thi day ©fvApril,: 1866, and appropri-
ate alternative relief. Said order is-attached hereto as Exhibit A.
2. Defendants were convicted by a jury on March 41, 1966,
of the murder, on February 21, 1965, of Malcolm X, who was shot to
death on the latter date while addressing the members of the Organ-
ization of Afro-American Unity, a break away group from the Nation
of Tslam,” at, the Audubon Ballroom in Manhattan.' :=.
; 3. puring their trial, Thomas Hagan, 2 co-defendant,- took
the stand on behalf of defendant AZIZ and testified ‘that neither

the latter nor defendant ISLAM had had ‘anything to:do with.the said
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1subsequent1y convicted both defendants. '
|
4. In October of 1977, said Hagan informed Imam Nuriddin

Faiz, a New York State Chaplain,

that he wished to elaborate on

his aforesaid testimony so that two innocent men could be freed

Accordingly, on November 30, 1977, and on February 25, 1978, he ex-

ecuted two affidavits in which he gave the names, descriptions and

last known locations of his confederates, as well as all pertinent

details of the crime's planning and execution. These affidavits
*

can be found on pp. 5 and73  of Exhibit B, attached hereto, the
material submitted to the court below in conjunction with defendant

motion pursuant to §440.10, CPL.

5. In addition, one Benjamin Goodman, who introduced Mal-
colm X to the audience on the day of the latter's death, furnished
b affidavits. stating that neither defendant was present-in the Ball
room on-the fatal-day. -Mr. Goodman’s:affidavit can be- found 'at: pp

53 and 156 ‘' of "Exhibit. B.:

6. Moreover,. a great deal of_ information-has come to lighy
following defendants' convictions indicating that: the Federal- Bur-

eau of Information and the New York City Police Department might

have been implicated in the murder of Malcolm X. Among other thing

the following has been learned:

a. When Malcolm X was shot, an undercover officer of the
New York City Police Department was present on the
ballroom stage but was never called to testify or had
his identity made known to the defense. EX- B/ pp.20-43

Although Malcolm X's house had been almost totally
destroyed by a bomb a week before his death, there
was no police presence at the ballroom on February
21, 1965, except for two who were hidden in an adjoin-
ing_room and one in the Emergency Room of the Presby-
terian Hospital (to which Malcolm X's body was even—
tually taken) and the three were in contact by walkie-
?algie Fadios. This tiny number of hidden officers
is in direct contrast to the hundreds who had been
*/ For the Court's convenience, Ex. B has been numbered con




1 of Malcolm X's

in regular attendance atal
23 et seg. Ex.

previous public appearances. Pp.

The FBI had a wealth of information indicating
an's version of the identity of the
other assassins was correct. See Pp-. 89-150, Ex. B.

One alleged murder weapon was removed from the
scene by a Reuben, Francis and never recovered
although Mr. Francis was in FBI custody during
defendants’ trial. P. 61, Ex. B.

Several months ago, counsel learned that one of

the assasins named by Mr. Hagan was in state cus-

tody at a New Jersey penitentiary and furnished - :
this information to the People. '-PpP- 166 et seq.; Ex. B

At much the same time, counsel discovered the - -
addresses of two other’ assassins named by Hagan :

and also turned over this information ‘to the "=
People. = In both instances, the People refused

to do any investigating of any of the men involved. Id.

The FBI had been engaged in a deliberate campaign
since the .defection of Malcolm X to create hostility
between him and the Nationiof Islam, all of which
is fully idocumented in the:Final Report:of the
Senate Select Committee to Study Governmental . i
Operations. with iRespect- to Intelligence Activities <
(Church -Committee) Report No. 94-755. "94th ‘Congress,
24 Session.- ‘;Ericf:ion*betweenvMalcolm X ‘and "his " -
Organizationiof Afro-American Unity iand.theNation
of Islam’'was-created by the:FBI in a-number‘of ways.
including ‘the :5ending of anonymous _letters and the
planting -of informants.:@ PP. 78 et seq:,~Ex.B. *.

7. As the Court can see from the 168 pages of material
submitted to the Court below, there is a wealth of information

which, in the event of a new trial for these defendants, might,

and, indeed, probably would, result in a-different verdict. “While

an attempt has been made above to summarize ‘some of this material;

only by a reading of the various documents is it possible to ap~

preciate the _enormity.of the information'presently'availabla:‘ An

evidentiary -hearing, which was denied .below, -is the ‘only way -by




T

Nenorary

|

1‘I
i
I‘ivhich it would be possible to complete the picture. It is defendants'
i .

belief that they have submitted more than enough to merit such a

earing. As the Court must realize, they are working against a back-

lgrop of some thirteen years and from jail cells, and it has been dif-
i

fficult to assemble the material which is here attached. It is felt
‘that simple and elemental justice reguires at least the granting of
ln evidentiary hearing. As the Court knows, the House Assassinations
Sommittee, which -is not- considering the death _of Malcolm X, has op-
sned up two other assassinations of the '60s but only defendants.have
een the moving force behind ‘the third assassination of the era.
§. It is hoped that, in view of‘the seriousness of the
Lharges against both defendants and the punishments imposed upon
hem’that this Court will -issue the .certificate prayed for in the
Lotice of motion.::Only by the:issuance of such:.a certificate will
he serious and-significant-issues posed hereby be heard and deter-
ined by the Court.

9. No previous application for the relief sought herein,
ther than as indicated above, been made to this or any other, Court.|
WHEREFORE, -defendants pray that the appropriate certificatg

ranting them leave to appeal to this Court be issued.

WILLIAM M. KUN"S #‘_"Lm(_

Eworn to before me this 29th

ay of November, 1978

i e




NOLD L.

Indictment No.

(NORMAN 3X B
871/65 -

X_J o) ,
Defendanits

5.2 Justice of the

:ade by the above-named defendant (by notice of
a ce}tifiéate pursuant to Secticn %50.15 of the
Procedure Law, and upon the record and proceedings herel
presented vhich ought to be
First Department‘and permission
from the Supreme Court , New. York County,
Novembegvl, 1978 is hereby denied.

New York
197 8 s

&14/& Z/ /G//ju;

Assoc. Justice, App. Div.
il 1st Dept.

Arnold L.
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